thasalanasiosr  HOUSING FINANCING FUND

EXCHANGE OFFER MEMORANDUM DATED 28 JUNE 2004
THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.

In certain jurisdictions, the distribution of this Exchange Offer Memorandum may be restricted by law. Persons into
whose possession this Exchange Offer Memorandum comes are required by the Housing Financing Fund (“HFF”) and
the Dealer Managers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.

This offer is not mandatory. If you are in any doubt as to the action you should take, you are recommended to seek
your own financial advice immediately from your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other independent
financial adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (if you are in the United Kingdom), or
from another appropriately authorised independent financial adviser. Any individual or company whose Existing
Securities are held on its behalf by a broker, dealer, bank, custodian, trust company or other nominee must contact
such entity if they wish to accept the Exchange Offer.

If you have recently sold or otherwise transferred your entire holding(s) of Existing Securities referred to below, you
should immediately forward this document to the purchaser or transferee, or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent
through whom the sale or transfer was effected, for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

Exchange Offer to the holders of the outstanding notes
comprising Series 1, 2, 3,4, 5,6 and 7
(as set forth below) of the

HOUSING FINANCING FUND

(Operating in accordance with Icelandic law)
(together, the “Existing Securities”)

Maximum
Current Principal Amount Amount
Series  ISIN Name Issuer Issue Date Maturity Date Outstanding (ISK) Accepted
1 ISIN 1S0000001154 IBN 20 Workers’ Housing Fund 1 January 1996 1 January 2020 42,120,517,305 100%
2 ISIN 1S0000001063 IBH 21 The State Housing Fund,
Housing Bonds Department 15 January 1996 15 January 2021 13,770,148,641 85%
3 ISIN 1S0000001071 IBH 22 The State Housing Fund,
Housing Bonds Department 15 December 1997 15 December 2022 17,596,105,307 85%
4 ISIN 1S0000004927 IBH 26 The Housing Finance Fund 15 March 2001 15 March 2026 17,951,415,455 85%
5 ISIN 1S0000001097 IBH 37 The State Housing Fund,
Housing Bonds Department 15 December 1997 15 December 2037 36,947,743,809 85%
6 ISIN 1S0000001162 IBN 38 Workers’ Housing Fund 1 January 1996 1 January 2038 51,771,146,969 100%
7 ISIN 1S0000004935 IBH 41 The Housing Finance Fund 15 March 2001 15 March 2041 82,641,604,162 85%

The Exchange Offer will commence at 8.00 a.m. (Reykjavik time) on 21 June 2004 (with acceptances from holders of
Existing Securities accepted from 8.00 a.m. (Reykjavik time) on 28 June 2004) and expire at 4.00 p.m. (Reykjavik
time), on 30 June 2004 unless the period for the Exchange Offer is extended as described herein. HFF may, in its sole
discretion, waive, amend (subject as provided herein), terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer at any time prior to
the conditions of the Exchange Offer being satisfied or waived in full. (See “Terms and Conditions of the New Notes”
and “General Procedures Relating to the Exchange Offer’). The Settlement Agency Agreement and the Fiscal Agency
Agreement are available for inspection at the specified offices of the Settlement Agent and the Paying Agent in Iceland.

Lead Dealer Manager
Deutsche Bank

Co-Dealer Managers
islensk Verdbréf hf.
KB Banki hf.
MP Fjarfestingarbanki hf. (formerly MP Verdbreéf)
Sparisjédur Reykjavikur og nagrennis (SPRON)
Virding hf.

islandsbanki hf.

Joklar Verdbreéf hf.
Landsbanki Islands hf.
Sparisjédabanki islands hf.
Verdbréfastofan hf.



This document contains the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer to the holders of the
Existing Securities (the “Noteholders”). HFF is making an offer to exchange (i) an aggregate
principal amount of outstanding notes of Series 1, Series 2, Series 3 and Series 4 of the Existing
Notes (as set out above) for new notes due 15 February 2024 to be issued by HFF (the “New
Series 1 Notes”), (ii) an aggregate principal amount of outstanding notes of Series 5 and Series
6 of the Existing Notes (as set out above) for new notes due 15 April 2034 to be issued by HFF
(the “New Series 2 Notes”) and (iii) an aggregate principal amount of outstanding notes of Series
7 of the Existing Notes (as set out above) for new notes due 15 June 2044 to be issued by HFF
(the “New Series 3 Notes”), together with the New Series 1 Notes and the New Series 2 Notes
(the “New Notes”), all as more fully described herein.

The Exchange Offer is being made upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Exchange Offer Memorandum. The notional amount of New Notes offered in exchange for Existing
Securities validly tendered and accepted will be determined based on the relevant exchange ratio
(the “Exchange Ratio”). See “Terms of the Exchange Offer".

See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain factors that should be considered prior to
participating in the Exchange Offer.

Application will be made to list the New Notes on the Iceland Stock Exchange (“ICEX”). The New
Notes will initially be in the form of a temporary global note (the “Temporary Global Note”) which
will be deposited on or around 7 July 2004 (the “Settlement Date”) with a common depositary for
Euroclear Bank, S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System (“Euroclear”), and Clearstream
Banking, société anonyme, Luxembourg (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”). The Temporary Global
Note will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a permanent global note not earlier
than 40 days after the Settlement Date upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

All liabilities of HFF, including its obligations to make payments of principal and interest under the
New Notes, are guaranteed by the Icelandic State. Under Icelandic law, the guarantee is
irrevocable and without limitation but, in the event of default by HFF, the holder of a New Note is
required first to exhaust his remedies against HFF before he is entitled to make a claim against the
Icelandic State under the guarantee. See “State Guarantee” on page 31.

Questions and requests for assistance in connection with the pricing of the Exchange Offer may
be directed to the Lead Dealer Manager and Co-Dealer Managers as set out on the back cover of
this document. Questions and requests for assistance in connection with the Acceptance Notice
may be directed to the Exchange Offer Group/Skiptiutbodshépur at Arion verdbréfavarsia hf. (the
“Settlement Agent”) on Tel: +354 528 2800; Fax: +354 528 2909 or e-mail: safekeeping@arion.is.
This Exchange Offer Memorandum contains important information which should be read carefully
before any decision is made with respect to the Exchange Offer.



DECLARATIONS

Declaration by the Issuer

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Housing Financing Fund (HFF), Identity No. 661198-
3629, Borgartuni 21, 105 Reykjavik, Iceland, we the under-signed, Chairman of the Board and
General Manager of HFF, hereby declare that, to the best of our knowledge, the information in this
Exchange Offer Memorandum both accords fully with the facts and no important items have been
omitted which could affect the evaluation of HFF or the New Notes.

Reykjavik, 28 June 2004,
On behalf of the Housing Financing Fund

Gunnar S. Bjornsson Gudmundur Bjarnason
Chairman of the Board General Manager
Id. No. 040932-3059 Id. No. 091044-7819

Declaration by the Lead Dealer Manager

Deutsche Bank AG London (Deutsche Bank), Winchester House, 1 Great Winchester Street,
London EC2N 2DB, United Kingdom, hereby declares that in preparing this Exchange Offer
Memorandum it has gathered the data which in its estimation was necessary to provide a correct
picture of HFF and the New Notes. To the best of our knowledge no important items have been
omitted which could affect the evaluation of HFF or the New Notes for which listing is sought.

London, 28 June 2004,
On behalf of Deutsche Bank AG London

Tim Odell Bill Northfield
Declaration by the Auditors

We the undersigned, KPMG Endurskodun hf., Id. No. 590975-0449, Borgartuni 27, 105 Reykjavik,
Iceland, have audited and signed without reservation HFF’s financial statements for 2001, 2002
and 2003.

HFF’s financial statements as at and for the years ended 31 December 2001, 2002 and 2003 are
included in this Exchange Offer Memorandum. We also confirm that other information in the
Exchange Offer Memorandum concerning these financial statements is consistent with such
financial statements.

Reykjavik, 28 June 2004,
On behalf of KPMG Endurskodun hf.

Helgi F. Arnarson
Id. No. 030657-2339



The distribution of this document in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into
whose possession this document comes are required by HFF, the Dealer Managers and the
Settlement Agent to inform themselves about, and to observe, any such restrictions.

HFF accepts responsibility for the information contained in this document and to the best of the
knowledge and belief of HFF (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case)
such information is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the
import of such information.

United States — Offer Restrictions

The Existing Securities have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).

The Exchange Offer is not being made and will not be made directly or indirectly in, or by use of
the mails of, or by any means or instrumentality of interstate or foreign commerce of, or any
facilities of a national securities exchange of, the United States of America. This includes, but is
not limited to, facsimile transmission, electronic mail, telex, telephone and the Internet.
Accordingly, copies of this document and any related offering documents are not being, and must
not be, mailed or otherwise transmitted or distributed in or into the United States of America. Any
purported acceptance of the Exchange Offer resulting directly or indirectly from a violation of these
restrictions will be invalid. HFF will not accept any tender by any such use, means, instrumentality
or facility from or within the United States. Any Noteholder who holds its Existing Securities through
a custodian in the United States should contact the Dealer Managers.

The New Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be
offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except
in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used
in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act. The
New Notes are in bearer form and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. The New Notes may
not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States
person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this
paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations
thereunder.

Italy — Offer Restrictions

This Exchange Offer Memorandum has not been submitted to the clearance procedure of the
Commissione Nazionale per le Societé la Borsa (CONSOB) and may not be used in connection
with the Exchange Offer in the Republic of ltaly. Accordingly, Noteholders are hereby notified that,
to the extent such Noteholders are ltalian residents or are located in Italy, the Exchange Offer is
not available to them and, as such, any Acceptance Notice or any other acceptance instruction in
whatever form received from such persons shall be void.

United Kingdom — Offer Restrictions

The communication of this Exchange Offer Memorandum is not being made and the Exchange
Offer Memorandum has not been approved by an authorised person for the purposes of section
21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. Accordingly, this document is only for
circulation to persons outside the United Kingdom, persons falling within the definition of
“Investment Professional” (as defined in Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2001 (the “Order”)) or persons who are within Article 43 of the
Order; or any other persons to whom it may lawfully be communicated in accordance with the
Order.

The Exchange Offer is not made and the New Notes are not being offered or sold in the United
Kingdom other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding,



managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses,
or otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the public
in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulations 1995.

Germany — Offer Restrictions

The New Notes are not authorised for public distribution under the German Securities Sales
Prospectus Act (Wertpapier-Verkaufsprospektgesetz) and accordingly may not be, and are not
being, offered or advertised publicly or by public promotion. The Exchange Offer Memorandum is
strictly for private use and the offer is only being made to recipients to whom the document is
personally addressed and does not constitute an offer or advertisement to the public.

France — Offer Restrictions

The Exchange Offer is not being made, directly or indirectly, to the public in France. The Exchange
Offer Memorandum or any other offering material relating to the Exchange Offer has not been and
shall not be distributed to the public in France and only qualified investors (investisseurs qualifiés),
as defined in Article L.411-2 of the French Code monetaire et financier and Decree No. 98-880
dated 1 October 1998 are eligible to accept the Exchange offer. This Exchange Offer
Memorandum has not been submitted for clearance to the Autorité des Marchés Financiers.

Spain — Offer Restrictions

The Exchange Offer is not being made in Spain. Neither the New Notes nor the Exchange Offer
Memorandum or any other offering material relating to the Exchange Offer has been registered
with the Comisién Nacional del Mercado de Valores in Spain. Accordingly, the New Notes may not
be offered, sold or delivered in Spain except in circumstances which do not constitute a public offer
of securities in Spain within the meaning of the Spanish Securities Market Law (Ley 24/1988, de
23 de julio, del Mercado de Valores), as amended, and Royal Decree 291/1992, of 27 March on
Issues and Public Offerings of Securities (Real Decreto 291/1992, de 27 de marzo, solre
Emisiones y Ofertas Publicas de Venta de Valores), as amended, and the decrees and regulations
made thereunder and no publicity in connection with the Exchange Offer will be carried out in
Spain nor any document or material relating thereto be distributed in Spain or targeted to Spanish
resident investors.

Belgium — Offer Restrictions

The Exchange Offer Memorandum and related documents are not intended to constitute a public
offer in Belgium within the meaning of the Law of 22 April 2003 on the Public Offering of Securities
and may not be distributed to the Belgian public. The Belgian Banking, Finance and Insurance
Commission has not reviewed nor approved this document or commented on its accuracy or
adequacy or recommended or endorsed the Exchange Offer. Only qualifying professional
investors within the meaning of Article 3.2 of the Belgian Royal Decree of 7 July 1999 (qualifying
professional investors) on the public nature of financial transactions who act for their own account
are eligible to accept the Exchange Offer.

Sweden - Offer Restrictions

This Exchange Offer Memorandum has not been, and will not be, registered with the Swedish
Financial Supervisory Authority. Accordingly, this document may not be made available, nor may
the New Notes otherwise be marketed and offered for sale in Sweden, other than in circumstances
which would not require a prospectus under the Financial Instruments Trading Act (1991: 980). No
action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction by HFF that would permit a public offering of the
New Notes, or possession or distribution of the Exchange Offer Memorandum, in any country or
jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.



Luxembourg — Offer Restrictions

This Exchange Offer Memorandum and any related documents are not intended to constitute a
public offer in Luxembourg and have not been approved by the Commission de Surveillance du
Secteur Financier.

New Zealand — Offer Restrictions

This Exchange Offer Memorandum has not been registered with the Registrar of Companies in
accordance with the Securities Act 1978 (New Zealand) (the “Securities Act”). Accordingly, neither
this Exchange Offer Memorandum nor any other offering materials or advertisements in relation to
the Exchange Offer may be received by a person in New Zealand, other than by, nor may the New
Notes be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in New Zealand, other than to, persons whose
principal business is the investment of money or who, in the course of and for the purposes of their
business, habitually invest money or in other circumstances where there is no contravention of the
Securities Act (or any statutory modification or re-enactment of, or statutory substitution for, the
Securities Act).

General

The Dealer Managers and the Settlement Agent and the Paying Agent referred to herein (or their
respective directors, employees or affiliates) make no representations or recommendations
whatsoever regarding this document or the Exchange Offer. The Settlement Agent is the agent of
HFF and owes no duty to any holder of Existing Securities. The Exchange Offer does not constitute
an offer to buy or the solicitation of an offer to sell notes in any circumstances in which such offer
or solicitation is unlawful. In those jurisdictions where the securities, blue sky or other laws require
the Exchange Offer to be made by a licensed broker or dealer, the Exchange Offer, as the case
may be, shall be deemed to be made on behalf of HFF by the Dealer Managers or one or more
registered brokers or dealers licensed under the laws of such jurisdiction.

Neither the delivery of this document nor any purchase of Existing Securities shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that the information contained herein is current as of any
time subsequent to the date of such information.

All references in the Exchange Offer Memorandum to “euro” and “€” refer to the currency
introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to
the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended, and to krona and “ISK” are to the
lawful currency (“krona”) of Iceland.



EXPECTED TIMETABLE FOR THE EXCHANGE OFFER

The times and dates below are indicative only.

Events

Dates and Times

Commencement of the Offer Period

Exchange Offer announced and notice of the Exchange
Offer submitted to the ICEX, the Clearing Systems, the
Icelandic Securities Depositary (“ISD”), and published
in the Morgunbladid.

Preliminary Exchange Offer Memorandum circulated.

Exchange Pricing Announcement Date
Commencement of Acceptance Notice period.

Announcement of the Exchange Spread, Exchange
Price and Exchange Ratio. Announcement submitted to
the ICEX, the Clearing Systems, the ISD, published in
the Morgunbladid.

Expiration Date and Time

Deadline for receipt of all Acceptance Notices.

End of Offer Period.

Announcement of acceptance

Announcement of the acceptance of the Exchange
Offer by HFF.

Announcement submitted to the ICEX, the Clearing
Systems, the ISD, published in the Morgunbladid.

Settlement Date for the Exchange Offer
Settlement Date for the Exchange Offer.

Delivery of New Notes in exchange of Existing Notes
validly submitted for exchange and accepted.

(All times are Reykjavik Time (RT))

08:00 hours
Monday 21 June 2004

08:00 hours
09:00 hours
Monday 28 June 2004

16:00 hours
Wednesday 30 June 2004

Thursday 1 July 2004

7 July 2004



CONTENTS

Page
Terms of the EXchange Offer ... e 9
T[S S = (e (o < T PRSPPI 12
Procedures Relating to the Acceptance of the Exchange Offer .........cccoiviiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 13
General Procedures Relating to the Exchange Offer ..., 16

Summary of Significant Differences between the New Notes and the Existing Securities .... 18

Terms and Conditions of the New NOTES ..o 19
Summary Provisions Relating to the New Notes while in Global Form .........c....ccccvveeeeeneee. 28
Y= U0 I C U= = Lo (== PR 31
DesCription Of HEF ...ttt enee e 32
The Republic Of ICEIANGA .....cooiei e 50
[o7=1 = aTo [Togl = D*¢= i {o ] o HU PP UPTUOTPSPRR 55
(T o= T = LI L]0 0 0 =11 T o PR 56
Index to the Financial Statements ..o F-1
Annex A - Form of Acceptance NOICE ......ooouuiiiiiiiii e A-1



TERMS OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER

Introduction to, and Rationale for, the Exchange Offer

HFF invites holders of its Existing Securities, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the
Exchange Offer, to offer to exchange all or any of their Existing Securities for New Notes to be
issued by HFF.

The main rationale behind the transaction is to make HFF’s bond issues more attractive for a
broader range of investors, and by increasing demand for the HFF bonds, enable HFF to offer its
domestic clients lower interest rates for their loans. This is to be achieved by constructing the New
Notes in a manner that should be more acceptable to both on-shore and off-shore investors, with
one key aspect being to consolidate liquidity from the seven series which comprise the Existing
Securities into the three New Notes issues.

Terms of the Exchange Offer

The Exchange Offer will commence at 8.00 a.m. (Reykjavik time) on 21 June 2004 and will expire
at 4.00 p.m. (Reykjavik time) on 30 June 2004, unless extended or previously cancelled by HFF
(as set out in “General procedures relating to the Exchange Offer’). Orders will be accepted from
8.00 a.m. (Reykjavik time) on 28 June 2004 until 4.00 p.m. (Reykjavik time) on 30 June 2004. HFF
will deliver New Notes for Existing Securities using the relevant Exchange Ratio as set out below.

HFF will solicit tenders to exchange an aggregate principal amount of outstanding notes of Series
1, Series 2, Series 3 and Series 4 of Existing Securities for New Series 1 Notes, (ii) an aggregate
principal amount of outstanding notes of Series 5 and Series 6 of Existing Securities for New
Series 2 Notes and (iii) an aggregate principal amount of outstanding notes of Series 7 of Existing
Securities for New Series 3 Notes.

Interest on the Existing Securities accrued and unpaid from (and including) the immediately
preceding interest payment date relevant to each such Series up to (but excluding) the Settlement
Date will be included in the exchange calculations, such that a holder will receive New Notes
corresponding to the exchange value of the Existing Securities together with any accrued interest
applicable. The minimum authorised denominations of the New Notes will be ISK 1 (the
“Authorised Denominations”).

Pro-rating of Acceptances in relation to Series 2, 3,4, 5 and 7

In the event that valid Acceptance Notices are received by the Settlement Agent as determined by
HFF in its sole discretion (“Valid Notices”) for more than 85% of the aggregate principal amount
of the outstanding Existing Securities for any of Series 2,3,4,5 and 7 of the Existing Securities (the
“Pro-Rated Securities”), then HFF may pro-rate the acceptances across any or all series of Pro-
Rated Securities provided that (i) HFF may at its own discretion accept more than 85% of the
aggregate principal amount of a series of Pro-Rated Securities before applying the Pro-Rating
Factor, as set out below; and (ii) Valid Notices in respect of an aggregate principal amount of ISK
500,000 or less for any series of Pro-Rated Securities may, at the discretion of HFF, be allocated
100% of the New Notes.

Any pro-rata allocation will be calculated by multiplying the aggregate principal amount of Pro-
Rated Securities in respect of a Valid Notice by the applicable factor (the “Pro-Rating Factor”).
The Pro-Rating Factor will be calculated as (i) the aggregate principal amount of Pro-Rated
Securities as determined by HFF divided by (ii) the aggregate principal amount of Pro-Rated
Securities offered for exchange by Noteholders. Each offer to exchange reduced in this matter will
be rounded up to the nearest Authorised Denomination, as set forth herein. Existing Securities that
are not accepted for exchange by HFF will continue to remain outstanding subject to the existing
terms and conditions for such notes.



As soon as possible following the Expiration Date (as set out above in the Expected Timetable for
the Exchange Offer), the Settlement Agent will notify Noteholders of the preliminary Pro-Rating
Factor. Noteholders may also obtain further details about the pro-rating of acceptances from the
Dealer Managers.

Exchange Ratios

The Exchange Ratios shall determine the notional amount of New Notes that shall be delivered to
Noteholders tendering in the exchange for each unit of notional amounts of Existing Securities
delivered by these Noteholders to the Settlement Agent. The Exchange Ratio for each pair of
Existing Security and New Note that shall be exchangeable under the terms of the Exchange Offer
shall be determined as the Exchange Price (as defined below) of the Existing Security divided by
the Exchange Price of the New Note.

Exchange Spreads

The exchange spreads (the “Exchange Spreads”) are set out in the table below:

Security Exchange Spread

Existing Securities ..........ccccvevvveeenne. IBN 20 0 bp
IBH 21 21 bp

IBH 22 21 bp

IBH 26 21 bp

IBH 37 22 bp

IBN 38 0 bp

IBH 41 24 bp

New Notes........coooviviiiciiiieeeee HFF 24 -2 bp
HFF 34 -2 bp

HFF 44 -2 bp

Each Exchange Spread has been determined by HFF following consultation with Deutsche Bank
and the Dealer Managers and will be announced by notification to ICEX at or around 9.00 a.m.
(Reykjavik time) on 28 June 2004 (the “Spread Fixing Date”).

Spot Price

The spot price (“Spot Price”) of each of Series 1 and Series 6 of the Existing Securities (the
“Reference Securities”), shall be calculated as the arithmetic average of the bid and offer prices
of such Reference Securities observed at 2.15 pm (Reykjavik time) on a Reykjavik business day
as published by ICEX on their website www.icex.is. In the event that such bid and offer prices are
not available, an average price shall be calculated from prices for each Reference Security
provided by not less than three market makers in the Existing Securities.

Exchange Price

The exchange price for each Existing Security and each New Note (the “Exchange Price”) shall
be that price which can be calculated from a yield equal to the sum of the Reference Yield and the
Exchange Spread for such security on the Settlement Date.

Note that the Exchange Ratio calculation described herein will imply a yield spread between each
pair of Existing Security and New Note. This yield spread between each pair of Existing Security
and New Note will depend on the sum of the relative Exchange Spreads for such Existing
Securities and New Notes as well as the differential in the yields of the Reference Securities at the
time of pricing.
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Reference Yield
The reference yield (the “Reference Yield”) shall be calculated as follows:

(Bs = B1) x D(M;,M)
D(M;,Me)

R=B1 +

where:

R = the Reference Yield;

B, = the Benchmark Yield of Series 1 of the Existing Securities;
Bs = the Benchmark Yield of Series 6 of the Existing Securities;

D(M,,M) = the difference in days between the maturity of Series 1 of the Existing Securities, and
the relevant Existing Security or New Note;

D(M,,Mg) = the difference in days between the maturity of Series 1 of the Existing Securities and
Series 6 of the Existing Securities.

Benchmark Yield

“Benchmark Yield” shall mean the yield for settlement on the Exchange Settlement Date for each
of the Reference Securities, calculated from a price determined as follows:

P=Psx (1 + RX 9360(5”:1)
360

where:

P = the price to be determined;

Ps = the Spot Price for such Reference Security;
R = the Money Market Rate (as set out below);

D360 (S,E) = the difference in days using a 30 day month between the Settlement Date for which
the Spot Price is valid and the Exchange Settlement Date.

Money Market Rate

The “Money Market Rate” shall mean the Central Bank of Iceland 14 day repo rate as of 8.00 a.m.
(Reykjavik time) on 28 June 2004.

Publication

The Exchange Ratios and any other data deemed appropriate will be notified to holders of Existing
Securities as soon as is practically possible.

Price Quotation

For the purpose of the Exchange Offer, prices shall be an inflation-adjusted price including any
applicable accrued interest (in accordance with Icelandic market practice).

Accrued Interest

Accrued but unpaid interest in relation to all Series of Existing Securities will be included in the
Exchange Ratio and paid out in New Notes.

11



RISK FACTORS

Prior to making a decision as to whether to accept the Exchange Offer, holders of Existing
Securities should carefully consider all of the information in this Exchange Offer Memorandum and,
in particular, the following factors:

Uncertainty as to the trading market for Existing Securities not tendered

To the extent that the Exchange Offer is accepted by holders of the Existing Securities, the trading
market for Existing Securities which remain outstanding following the completion of the Exchange
Offer may be significantly limited. Such outstanding Existing Securities may command a lower
price than a comparable issue of securities with greater market liquidity. A reduced market value
and liquidity may also make the trading price of the remaining Existing Securities more volatile. As
a result, the market price for Existing Securities that remain outstanding after the completion of the
Exchange Offer may be adversely affected as a result of the Exchange Offer.

Uncertainty as to the trading market for New Notes

HFF does not intend to apply for listing of the New Notes on any securities exchange other than
ICEX. HFF intends to enter into an agreement to maintain the prevailing market making agreement
for the Existing Securities and to expand it to include market making for the New Notes until 30
June 2005. No assurance can however be given as to the liquidity of the trading market for the
New Notes. Concurrent with the Exchange Offer, application has been made for the New Notes to
be listed on ICEX.

Responsibility for complying with the procedures of the Exchange Offer

Holders are responsible for complying with all of the procedures for tendering the Existing
Securities. Neither HFF, the Dealer Managers nor the Settlement Agent assume any responsibility
for informing Noteholders of irregularities with respect to tenders.

Prior to the Expiration Date, no assurance can be given that the Exchange Offer will be completed.
This may depend upon the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions of the Exchange Offer.
Notwithstanding the right to withdraw Existing Securities that have been tendered up to the
Business Day preceding the Expiration Date, Existing Securities will not be capable of being
transferred if tendered and not validly withdrawn.

12



2.2

2.3

2.4

PROCEDURES RELATING TO THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER

Noteholders who wish to tender their Existing Securities for exchange on the proposed
terms, must submit their exchange offer orders to their authorised intermediary or, if they are
members of the Icelandic Securities Depositary (the “ISD”), to the Settlement Agent, at any
time between 8.00 a.m. Reykjavik time on 28 June 2004 and 4.00 p.m. Reykjavik time on
30 June 2004, in each case in accordance with the procedures described below:

Common procedure for orders’ submission:

Orders must be submitted no later than 4.00 p.m. Reykjavik time on 30 June 2004 to the
Settlement Agent, the name of which is set out below:

Arion verdbréfavarsla hf.
Armula 13
108 Reykjavik

Fax: +354 528 2909

Members of the ISD must transfer the Existing Securities tendered on their behalf or on
behalf of their clients to the ISD account of the Settlement Agent set out below:

901202-3468
Arion verdbréfavarsla — safnreikningur

Holders of Existing Securities who are not members of the ISD must contact their authorised
intermediaries which will follow the common procedure on their behalf.

In all cases, acceptance notice to the Settlement Agent shall be provided in such form as
shall be provided to them by the Settlement Agent (the “Acceptance Notice”). This
Acceptance Notice, in the form attached to this document (see Annex A), must contain the
following mandatory information and instructions (failing which the orders may be rendered
void):

(@) aunique reference corresponding to the Noteholder’s order, i.e. the transfer reference
number used in the ISD transfer. A unique reference should not be repeated on
multiple Acceptance Notices;

(b)  the details of the account number where the Existing Securities tendered are delivered
from;

(¢) the details of the Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg account number where the
New Notes should be credited;

(d) the aggregate nominal amount of each transfer of the Existing Securities tendered and
their ISIN code;

(e) evidence of the crediting of the ISD account of the Settlement Agent;

(f)  confirmation that the Existing Securities tendered for exchange are free of any
mortgage, lien, pledge or other charge of any nature whatsoever;

(g) confirmation that the holder of the Existing Securities tendered for exchange has
acknowledged and complied with the offer restrictions applicable to that holder;

(h)  confirmation that the Noteholder recognises that, upon acceptance by the Noteholder,
such Existing Securities tendered will not be returned to the Noteholder except under
the general procedures relating to the Exchange Offer; and

(i)  confirmation of the securities account to be credited on the Settlement Date for
delivery of the New Notes in respect of tendered Existing Securities.
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2.5

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Acceptance notices must be received by the Settlement Agent by 4.00 p.m. (Reykjavik time)
on the same day the transfer is executed in the ISD. For each transfer in the ISD a
corresponding Acceptance Notice must be sent to the Settlement Agent.

The acceptance by a Noteholder of the Exchange Offer will constitute a binding agreement
between such Noteholder and HFF. Such acceptance will be binding upon receipt by the
Settlement Agent of the Acceptance Notice. The acceptance by a Noteholder of the
Exchange Offer may not be revoked once submitted.

By submitting the Acceptance Notice the Noteholder is deemed to represent, warrant and
undertake to HFF, the Settlement Agent and the Dealer Managers:

That full title guarantee to the Existing Securities, free from all liens, charges and
encumbrances and together with all rights attached thereto, referenced in each Acceptance
Notice will, on the relevant Settlement Date, be transferred by such Noteholder;

that: Either (a) (i) the Noteholder is the beneficial owner of the Existing Securities being
submitted for exchange and (ii) the Noteholder is located outside the United States and the
Noteholder is not a U.S. person or (b) (i) the Noteholder is acting on behalf of the beneficial
owner of the Existing Securities being submitted for exchange and has been duly authorised
to so act and (ii) such beneficial owner has confirmed to the Settlement Agent that it is
located outside the United States and it is not a U.S. person;

that the Noteholder is not resident in the United Kingdom or, if it is resident in the United
Kingdom, it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing
or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its businesses or it is
a person who trades or invests in securities in the conduct of a profession or business or
otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the public
in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulations 1995
(as amended);

that, the Noteholder is not resident in Belgium or, if it is resident in Belgium, it is a qualifying
professional investor within the meaning of Article 3.2 of the Belgian Royal Decree of 7th
July, 1999 (qualifying professional investors) on the public nature of financial transactions
who act for their own account;

that, the Noteholder is not resident in the Republic of Italy, it is located outside the Republic
of Italy, it received the Exchange Offer Memorandum and the invitation outside the Republic
of Italy and it is not acting on behalf of investors resident in the Republic of Italy or persons
located in the Republic of Italy;

that, the Noteholder is not resident in Spain, it is located outside of Spain, it received the
Exchange Offer Memorandum and the invitation outside of Spain and it is not acting on
behalf of investors resident of or located in Spain;

that, the Noteholder is not resident in the Republic of France or, where it is resident in the
Republic of France, it is a qualified investor (investisseur qualifié) acting for its own account
or directly for the account of a qualified investor (as defined in Article L. 411-2 of the French
Code monétaire et financier and Decree No. 98-880 of 1st October, 1998);

that, the Noteholder is not resident in New Zealand or, if it is resident in New Zealand, it is a
person whose principal business is the investment of money or who, in the course of and for
the purposes of its business, habitually invests money or in other circumstances where there
is no contravention of the Securities Act 1978 (New Zealand) (or any statutory modification
or re-enactment of, or statutory substitution for, the Securities Act);
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If the relevant Noteholder is unable to give the representations and warranties described
above, such Noteholder should contact the Dealer Managers; and confirm

4.9

that such Noteholder has observed the laws of all relevant jurisdictions, obtained all requisite
governmental, exchange control or other required consents, complied with all requisite
formalities and paid any issue, transfer or other taxes or requisite payments due from him or
her in each respect in connection with any offer or acceptance, in any jurisdiction and that it
has not taken or omitted to take any action in breach of the terms of the Exchange Offer or
which will or may result in HFF or any other person acting in breach of the legal or regulatory
requirements of any such jurisdiction in connection with the Exchange Offer or tender of
Notes in connection therewith.

All acceptances will be on the basis of the Terms of the Exchange Offer and the General
Procedures Relating to the Exchange Offer and, once made in the manner described above,
will (subject as mentioned above) be irrevocable and binding on the relevant Noteholder and
may not be withdrawn. Acceptances may only be made by submission of a valid
Acceptance Notice to the Settlement Agent no later than 4.00 p.m. (Reykjavik time) on
the Expiration Date which (subject to the provisions of the Terms of Exchange Offer)
will be 30 June 2004 (the “Expiration Date”). All questions as to validity, form and eligibility
(including time of receipt) of any Acceptance Notice will be determined solely by HFF. HFF's
determination as to whether or when an Acceptance Notice is received, whether it is duly
completed and signed or whether acceptance is validly revoked shall be final and binding.

Noteholders should not send Acceptance Notices to HFF, the Dealer Managers or the ISD.

15



2.2

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

GENERAL PROCEDURES RELATING TO THE EXCHANGE OFFER

Extension and Subsequent Offers

According to Article 7 of the Regulation on Securities Trading No. 630/2003 the tender period
for an exchange offer may be up to one month. However, HFF may, at its discretion, seek
the permission of ICEX to extend the Tender Period for the Exchange Offer. HFF may at any
time make or procure the making of a new offer to the holders of the Existing Securities on
such terms as it may determine in accordance with applicable law. HFF shall forthwith notify
the Settlement Agent of any such new offer and any such new offer will be notified to the
holders of the Existing Securities as promptly as practicable. Any Acceptance Notice
submitted to the Settlement Agent before the new offer is made will be valid and binding in
respect of the new offer, provided that the terms of the new offer are considered by HFF in
its sole discretion to be no less favourable to Noteholders.

Termination, Withdrawal and Amendment

Subject to applicable law, HFF may (i) at any time waive any provision of the Exchange Offer,
as the case may be, or (ii) at any time prior to the conditions of the Exchange Offer, as the
case may be, being satisfied or waived in full: (a) amend any term of the Exchange Offer, as
the case may be, which HFF considers in its sole discretion will be no less favourable to the
Noteholders; or (b) terminate or withdraw the Exchange Offer (whether before or after any
acceptance by any Noteholder).

Any such waiver, amendment, termination or withdrawal may be effected before or after
acceptance of the Exchange Offer by any relevant Noteholder, shall be applied to any such
Noteholder who has so accepted and will be followed as promptly as practicable by notice
thereof by the Settlement Agent to holders of the Existing Securities.

Additional Terms of the Exchange Offer

All communications, payments, notices, or certificates to be delivered to or by a Noteholder
will be delivered by or sent to or by it at its own risk.

All acceptances shall be deemed to be made on the terms set out herein and shall oblige
the relevant Noteholder to deliver the Existing Securities tendered pursuant to the Exchange
Offer.

Any notice given to a Noteholder in connection with the Exchange Offer will be submitted to
ICEX for publication in accordance with its rules and will subsequently be published in a
leading daily newspaper published in Iceland (which is expected to be the Morgunbladid)
and delivered to ICEX. HFF may, at its discretion, also give notice by any other means it
considers appropriate.

By submitting an Acceptance Notice, each Noteholder will be deemed to accept the terms
and conditions of the Exchange Offer and shall be deemed to have agreed to indemnify HFF,
each of the Dealer Managers and the Settlement Agent against all and any losses, costs,
claims, liabilities, expenses, charges, actions or demands which any of them may incur or
which may be made against any of them as a result of any breach of any of the terms of, or
any of the representations, warranties and/or undertakings given pursuant to, the Exchange
Offer, by any such Noteholder.

Each of HFF, the Dealer Managers and the Settlement Agent may in its discretion elect to
treat as valid an Acceptance Notice not complying in all respects with the terms of the
Exchange Offer, or in respect of which the relevant Noteholder does not comply with all the
subsequent requirements of these terms.
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3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

The Exchange Offer and each Acceptance Notice shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with Icelandic law. By accepting the terms and conditions of this Exchange Offer,
a Noteholder irrevocably and unconditionally agrees for the benefit of HFF, the Dealer
Managers and the Settlement Agent that the courts of Iceland are to have jurisdiction to
settle any disputes which may arise in connection with the Exchange Offer, or any of the
documents referred to above and that, accordingly, any suit, action or proceedings arising
out of or in connection with the foregoing may be brought in such courts.

None of HFF, the Dealer Managers or the Settlement Agent or any of their respective
directors or employees makes any recommendation as to whether or not to accept the terms
and conditions of Exchange Offer or otherwise to exercise any rights in respect of the
Existing Securities. Noteholders must make their own decision with regard to acceptance.

HFF’s interpretation of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer (including the
instructions in the Acceptance Notice) shall be final and binding. No alternative, conditional
or contingent tenders will be accepted. HFF or the Settlement Agent may reject any
Acceptance Notice submitted by a Noteholder who is, or at any time becomes, in breach of
any representation, warranty or undertaking of the Noteholder under the Exchange Offer.

Unless waived by HFF, any irregularities in connection with tenders must be cured within
such time as HFF shall determine. None of HFF, the Dealer Managers, the Settlement Agent
or any other person will be under any duty to give notification of any defects or irregularities
in such tenders, nor will any of such entities incur any liability for failure to give such
notification.

If any written communication addressed to HFF, the Dealer Managers or the Settlement
Agent is signed on behalf of a Noteholder (by an attorney-in-fact, custodian, trustee,
administrator, director or officer of a corporation or any other person acting in a fiduciary or
representative capacity) that fact should be indicated on the relevant communication and a
power of attorney or other form of authority, in a form satisfactory to HFF, must be delivered
to the Settlement Agent by the end of the Tender Period. Failure to submit such evidence as
aforesaid may result in rejection of the acceptance. Neither HFF nor the Settlement Agent
shall have any responsibility to check the genuineness of any such power of attorney or
other form of authority so delivered and may conclusively rely on, and shall be protected in
acting in reliance upon, any such power of attorney or other form of authority.

None of HFF, the Dealer Managers or the Settlement Agent shall accept any responsibility
for failure of delivery of any Acceptance Notice or any other notice or communication. HFF's
determination in respect of any Acceptance Notice or any other notice or communication
shall be final and binding.

If the Exchange Offer does not become unconditional or is otherwise terminated or
withdrawn after any Noteholder has submitted an Acceptance Notice, HFF shall give
Noteholders notice as provided herein.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE NEW NOTES AND THE
EXISTING SECURITIES

The information contained in this section only lists some of the significant differences between the
New Notes and the Existing Securities and is not a complete description of all such differences.
The summary below is qualified by reference to (i) the terms and conditions of the New Notes set
out herein and (ii) the terms and conditions of the Existing Securities.

The New Notes will be issued with different terms and conditions to those of the Existing
Securities.

In addition to pricing provisions and nominal amounts, the New Notes differ from the Existing
Securities comprising the notes of Series 2, 3, 4, 5 and 7 (the “Housing Bonds”) in, for example,
the following manner:

(@) The New Notes are subject to payment on pre-scheduled semi-annual payment dates
whereas the Housing Bonds are paid pursuant to a system of drawing of lots every three
months each year under the Act on Housing Affairs No. 44/1998 (/6g um hisneedismal),
Section 22.

(b) The New Notes are non-callable whereas the Issuer is permitted to redeem the Housing
Bonds pursuant to a system of drawing of lots under the Act on Housing Affairs No. 44/1998
(I6g um husneedismal), Section 23.

(c) The New Notes are issued to bearer and may be transferred to bearer whereas the Housing
Bonds are in registered form and can only be transferred to a named person according to
regulation No. 157/2001 (reglugerd um husbréf og husbréfavidskipti), Section 5.

(d)  The New Series 1 Notes, the New Series 2 Notes and the New Series 3 Notes amortise over
a period of approximately 20, 30 and 40 years respectively whereas the Housing Bonds
mature in 25 and 40 years if not redeemed prior to final maturity.

In addition to pricing provisions and nominal amounts, the New Notes differ from the Existing
Securities comprising the notes of Series 1 and 6 (the “Housing Authority Bonds”) in, for
example, the following manner:

(@) The New Notes are issued to bearer and may be transferred to bearer whereas the Housing
Authority Bonds are in registered form and can only, according to their terms, be transferred
to a named person.

(b) The New Notes amortise over a period of approximately 20, 30 and 40 years respectively
whereas the Housing Authority Bonds have a remaining time to maturity of 16 or 34 years
respectively.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NEW NOTES

The creation and issue of the New Notes by HFF was authorised pursuant to an Act of the
Icelandic Parliament (Althingi) No. 57/2004, amending the Act on Housing Affairs No. 44/1998,
Sections 22 and temporary provision .

These terms and conditions have been approved by the Minister of Social Affairs, pursuant to
regulation no. 522/2004, Section 4, following a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer
passed on 10 June 2004. The New Notes are not subject to any restrictions on transferability and
the terms and conditions of the New Notes apply to all holders of the New Notes.

The 3.75 per cent. Notes due 15 February 2024 (the “New Series 1 Notes”, which expression
includes any further New Series 1 Notes issued pursuant to Condition 16 (Further Issues) and
forming a single series therewith), the 3.75 per cent. Notes due 15 April 2034 (the “New Series 2
Notes”, which expression includes any further New Series 2 Notes issued pursuant to Condition
16 (Further Issues) and forming a single series therewith) and the 3.75 per cent. Notes due 15
June 2044 (the “New Series 3 Notes”, which expression includes any further New Series 3 Notes
issued pursuant to Condition 16 (Further Issues) and forming a single series therewith, and,
together with the New Series 1 Notes and the New Series 2 Notes, the “Notes”) of the Housing
Financing Fund (the “Issuer”) are the subject of a fiscal agency agreement dated 7 July 2004 (the
“Settlement Date”) (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”)
between the Issuer, islandsbanki hf as fiscal agent (the “Fiscal Agent”, which expression includes
any successor fiscal agent appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes) and the
paying agents named therein (together with the Fiscal Agent, the “Paying Agents”, which
expression includes any successor or additional paying agents appointed from time to time in
connection with the Notes). Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency
Agreement and subject to its detailed provisions. The holders of the Notes (the “Noteholders”),
the holders of the related principal receipts (the “Receiptholders” and the “Receipts”,
respectively) and the holders of the related interest coupons (the “Couponholders” and the
“Coupons”, respectively) are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the
Agency Agreement applicable to them. Copies of the Agency Agreement are available for
inspection by Noteholders during normal business hours at the Specified Offices (as defined in the
Fiscal Agency Agreement) of each of the Paying Agents, the initial Specified Offices of which are
set out below.

1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are in bearer form in the denomination of ISK 1 with Receipts, Coupons and
talons (each, a “Talon”) for further Coupons and Receipts attached at the time of issue. Title
to the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons will pass by delivery. The holder of
any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon shall (except as otherwise required by law) be treated
as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any
notice of ownership or any other interest therein, any writing thereon or any notice of any
previous loss or theft thereof) and no person shall be liable for so treating such holder.

2. Status

The Notes constitute direct, general and unconditional obligations of the Issuer which will at
all times rank pari passu among themselves and at least pari passu with all other present
and future unsecured obligations of the Issuer, save for such obligations as may be preferred
by mandatory provisions of Icelandic law.

3. State Guarantee

The entire liabilities of the Issuer, including its obligations to make payments of principal and
interest under the Notes, are guaranteed by the Icelandic State. Under Icelandic law, the
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guarantee is irrevocable and without limitation but, in the event of a default by the Issuer, a
Noteholder is required first to exhaust his remedies against the Issuer before he is entitled
to make a claim against the Icelandic State.

Negative Pledge

So long as any Note remains outstanding (as such term is defined in the Agency
Agreement), the Issuer shall not create or permit to subsist any Security Interest upon any
of its present or future revenues, properties or assets without at the same time or prior
thereto securing the Notes equally and rateably therewith; provided, however, that the Notes
will not be required to be so secured if the Security Interest is on properties or assets to
secure an amount not exceeding the purchase price of such properties or assets.

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest
including, without limitation, anything analogous to any of the foregoing under the laws of
any jurisdiction.

Interest

Series 1: The New Series 1 Notes due 15 February 2024 will bear fixed interest on their
outstanding principal amount from 15 February 2004 at the rate of 3.75 per cent. per annum
(the “Series 1 Interest Rate”). Interest (subject to adjustment for indexation in accordance
with Condition 8 (/ndexation)) will be payable in arrear on 15 February and 15 August in each
year (each a “Series 1 Interest Payment Date”), commencing on 15 August 2004;

Series 2. The New Series 2 Notes due 15 April 2034 will bear fixed interest on their
outstanding principal amount from 15 April 2004 at the rate of 3.75 per cent. per annum (the
“Series 2 Interest Rate”). Interest (subject to adjustment for indexation in accordance with
Condition 8 (Indexation)) will be payable in arrear on 15 April and 15 October in each year
(each, a “Series 2 Interest Payment Date”), commencing on 15 October 2004;

Series 3: The New Series 3 Notes due 15 June 2044 will bear fixed interest on their
outstanding principal amount from 15 June 2004 at the rate of 3.75 per cent. per annum (the
“Series 3 Interest Rate”). Interest (subject to adjustment for indexation in accordance with
Condition 8 (Indexation)) will be payable in arrear on 15 June and 15 December in each year
(each, a “Series 3 Interest Payment Date”), commencing on 15 December 2004.

If interest is required to be paid in respect of a Note on any date other than a Series 1
Interest Payment Date, a Series 2 Interest Payment Date or a Series 3 Interest Payment
Date (each, an “Interest Payment Date”) as the case may be, it shall be calculated by
applying the Series 1 Interest Rate, Series 2 Interest Rate or Series 3 Interest Rate, as the
case may be to the current principal amount of such Note, multiplying the product by the
relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resulting figure to the nearest Icelandic Kréna
(half a Kréna being rounded upwards), where:

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of any period, the number of days in the relevant
period, from (and including) the first day in such period to (but excluding) the last day in such
period, divided by the product of (1) the number of days in the Regular Period in which the
relevant period falls and (2) two; and

“‘Regular Period” means each period from (and including) the Settlement Date or any
Interest Payment Date to (but excluding) the next Series 1 Interest Payment Date, Series 2
Interest Payment Date or Series 3 Interest Payment Date, as the case may be.

Redemption and Purchase

Scheduled Redemption: Unless previously redeemed, purchased or cancelled, the Series 1
Notes will be redeemed in 40 instalments on the Series 1 Interest Payment Dates, the Series
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2 Notes will be redeemed in 60 instalments on the Series 2 Interest Payment Dates and the
Series 3 Notes will be redeemed in 80 instalments on the Series 3 Interest Payment Dates.
Subject to Condition 7 (Payments) and Condition 8 (Indexation) the amount of each
instalment to be paid on each relevant Interest Payment Date shall be calculated in
accordance with the following formula:

A= r(1+n<
(1+n"—1
where

= The amount of each instalment of the relevant Note

r= ¢
2

c = The Rate of Interest of the relevant Note

n = The total number of instalments of the relevant Note

k = The number of payments that have already been made (k = 0 on the Settlement Date,
k = 1 on the first Interest Payment Date, etc)

No other redemption: The Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Notes otherwise than as
provided in paragraph (a) above.

Purchase: The Issuer may at any time purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise and
at any price, provided that all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and unexchanged Talons are
purchased therewith.

Cancellation: All Notes so redeemed or purchased by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries
and any unmatured Receipts, Coupons or unexchanged Talons attached to or surrendered
with them may be cancelled and, in the event that they are so cancelled, may not be
reissued or resold.

Payments

Payments for the Notes: The Issuer shall, on each relevant Interest Payment Date in respect
of each Note of ISK 1 denomination, make a combined payment of principal due under
Condition 6 (Redemption and Purchase) and interest due under Condition 5 (Interest) in
accordance with the following formula which payment, once calculated, shall be adjusted for
inflation as set out in Condition 8 (/ndexation):

P= r

where
P = The combined payment of principal and interest of the relevant Note

r= C

2
c = The Rate of Interest of the relevant Note
and

n = The total number of instalments of the relevant Note.
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Principal: Payments of principal set out in Condition 7(a) (Payments for the Notes) shall be
made only against:

(i) presentation and (in the case of final redemption, provided that payment is made in
full) surrender of Notes; and

(i)  in respect of any instalment of principal which becomes due on an Interest Payment
Date, presentation and (in the case of payment in full) surrender of the appropriate
Receipts,

at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States.

Interest. Payments of interest shall, subject to paragraph (g) below, be made only against
presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of the appropriate
Coupons at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States.

Method of Payment. Payments of principal and interest of the Notes will be made in ISK by
credit or transfer to an account denominated in ISK and specified by the Noteholder.

Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the Notes are subject in all cases
to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations, but without prejudice to the provisions
of Condition 10 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the
Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

Unmatured Receipts void: On the due date for final redemption of any Note pursuant to
Condition 6(a) (Scheduled Redemption), all unmatured Receipts relating thereto (whether or
not still attached) shall become void and no payment will be made in respect thereof.

Unmatured Coupons void: On the due date for final redemption of any Note or early
redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 11 (Events of Default), all unmatured
Coupons relating thereto (whether or not still attached) shall become void and no payment
will be made in respect thereof.

Payments on business days: If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of any
Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day in the place of presentation, the holder shall
not be entitled to payment in such place of the amount due until the next succeeding
business day in such place and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment
in respect of any such delay. In this paragraph, “business day” means, in respect of any
place of presentation, any day on which banks are open for business in such place of
presentation and, in the case of payment by transfer to a ISK account as referred to above,
on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on both in Reykjavik and in such
place of presentation.

Payments other than in respect of matured Coupons: Payments of interest other than in
respect of matured Coupons shall be made only against presentation of the relevant Notes
at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States.

Partial payments: If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Note, Receipt
or Coupon presented to it for payment, such Paying Agent will endorse thereon a statement
indicating the amount and date of such payment.

Exchange of Talons: On or after the maturity date of the final Coupon and Receipt which is
(or was at the time of issue) part of a coupon or receipt sheet relating to the Notes (each, a
“Coupon Sheet’” and a “Receipt Sheet” respectively), the Talon forming part of such
Coupon Sheet or Receipt Sheet may be exchanged at the Specified Office of the Principal
Paying Agent for a further Coupon Sheet or Receipt Sheet (including a further Talon but
excluding any Coupons or Receipts in respect of which claims have already become void
pursuant to Condition 12 (Prescription). Upon the due date for redemption of any Note, any
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(b)

unexchanged Talon relating to such Note shall become void and no Coupon or Receipt will
be delivered in respect of such Talon.

Indexation

Application of the index ratio. Each amount of interest and principal in respect of the Notes
and calculated as set out in Condition 7 (Payments) to be paid on an Interest Payment Date,
shall be multiplied by the Index Ratio applicable to such Interest Payment Date.

The value of the Index Ratio shall be the value of the Reference Index applicable to the
relevant Interest Payment Date divided by the value of the Base Index.

“Reference Index” means:

for the first day of the relevant calendar month, the value of the Consumer Price Index
(the “CPI") for the relevant month as calculated by Statistics Iceland pursuant to the
Consumer Price Index Act of 1995 (/6g um visitblu neysluverds nr. 12/1995) and
published monthly in the Legal Gazette (Légbirtingarbladid);

for each day in the relevant calendar month other than the first day:

(a) if the CPI for the calendar month immediately succeeding the month in which the
relevant Interest Payment Date falls (the “Succeeding Month CPI”) has been
published as at the relevant Interest Payment Date:

d
_ C|:>t+1)30
Rl = CP, x ( p

(b) if the Succeeding Month CPI has not been published as at the relevant Interest
Payment Date:

d

Rl = CPex (1 +7r)*®

where

Rl = Reference Index

CP; = CPI value for the first day of the relevant calendar month

CPi,q = Succeeding Month CPI

d= number of days since the first day of the month (e.g. 2 February = 1)
and

r = annualised inflation forecast of the Central Bank of Iceland

provided that in the event that the value of the Reference Index in (i) or (ii) above is
lower than the Base Index, the Reference Index shall equal the Base Index.

“Base Index” means the value of the CPIl on 1 July 2004.

Changes in the index: If at any time a new index is substituted for the CPI, as of the calendar
month from and including that in which such substitution takes effect:

(i

the Reference Index shall be deemed to refer to the new index; and
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10.

1.

(i)  new Base Index shall be the product of the existing Base Index and the Reference
Index immediately following such substitution, divided by the Reference Index
immediately prior to such substitution.

Default Interest

In the event that payment is improperly withheld or refused, the unpaid amount will bear
interest (“Default Interest”) at the Default Interest Rate in accordance with Sections 5 and
6 of the Act on Interest and Price Indexation no. 38/2001 (/6g um vexti og verdtryggingu).
Default Interest shall be paid up to and including the day on which payment is received by
or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder calculated on the basis of the actual number of days
elapsed from the payment date as a fraction of a month of 30 days divided by 360.

“Default Interest Rate” means the aggregate of the current interest rate of the most
common short-term loans of the Central Bank of Iceland to lending institutions and a margin
of eleven per cent. as published by the Central Bank of Iceland semi-annually, before 1
January and 1 July each year.

Calculation of default interest. Default interest shall be calculated on the basis of the actual
number of days elapsed from the payment date as a fraction of a month of 30 days divided
by 360.

Taxation

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons
shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatsoever nature imposed, levied, collected,
withheld or assessed by the Republic of Iceland or any political subdivision or any authority
thereof or therein having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by
law, in which case, the Issuer will not pay any additional amounts in respect of amounts
withheld pursuant to such withholding or deduction.

The Issuer shall bear all costs of stamp, registration or other taxes, duties, assessments or
governmental charges of whatsoever nature that are payable in Iceland upon or in
connection with the execution or delivery of the Notes, Coupons or Receipts.

Events of Default
If any of the following events occurs:

Non-payment: the Issuer fails to pay any amount of principal and/or interest in respect of the
Notes within 31 days of the due date for payment thereof; or

Breach of other obligations: the Issuer defaults in the performance or observance of any of
its other obligations under or in respect of the Notes and such default remains unremedied
for 30 days after written notice thereof, addressed to the Issuer by any Noteholder, has been
delivered to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent; or

Cross-default of Issuer. any other present or future indebtedness in Icelandic Krona of the
Issuer for borrowed money (being indebtedness of an amount in excess of ISK
2,000,000,000) becomes due and payable prior to the stated maturity thereof by reason of
default or any such indebtedness is not paid at the maturity thereof as extended by any
grace period applicable thereto or any present or future guarantee of borrowed money in
Icelandic Kréna (being any guarantee of an amount in excess of ISK 2,000,000,000) given
by the Issuer is not honoured when due and called upon or within any grace period
applicable thereto or the security for any such guarantee or indebtedness for borrowed
money becomes enforceable or the Issuer shall declare a general moratorium on the
payment of such indebtedness,
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12.

13.

14.

15.

then any Note may, by written notice addressed by the holder thereof to the Issuer and
delivered to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, be declared immediately
due and payable, whereupon it shall become immediately due and payable at its outstanding
principal amount together with accrued interest, both as adjusted pursuant to Condition 8
(Indexation), without further action or formality.

Prescription

Claims for principal and interest shall become void unless the relevant Notes, Coupons (and,
in the case of any instalment of principal which became due on an Interest Payment Date,
the relevant Receipts) are presented for payment within ten years of the relevant Interest
Payment Date.

Replacement of Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons

If any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may
be replaced at the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent and the Paying Agent having in
Specified Office in Reykjavik, subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange
requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with
such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as
the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons
must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

Agents

In acting under the Fiscal Agency Agreement and in connection with the Notes, the Receipts
and the Coupons, the Paying Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume
any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the Noteholders,
Receiptholders or Couponholders.

The initial Paying Agents and their initial Specified Offices are listed below. The Issuer
reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and
to appoint a successor fiscal agent or agent bank and additional or successor paying agents;
provided, however, thatthe Issuer shall at all times maintain a paying agent in Reykjavik and
a fiscal agent. Notice of any change in any of the Paying Agents or in their Specified Offices
shall promptly be given to the Noteholders.

Meetings of Noteholders; Modification and Waiver

Meetings of Noteholders: The Fiscal Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening
meetings of Noteholders to consider matters relating to the Notes, including the modification
of any provision of these Conditions. Any such modification may be made if sanctioned by
an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer and shall be
convened by it upon the request in writing of Noteholders holding not less than one-tenth of
the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes. The quorum at any meeting
convened to vote on an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons holding or
representing one more than half of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes
or, at any adjourned meeting, two or more persons being or representing Noteholders
whatever the principal amount of the Notes held or represented; provided, however, that
certain proposals (including any proposal to change any date fixed for payment of principal
or interest in respect of the Notes, to reduce the amount of principal or interest payable on
any date in respect of the Notes, to alter the method of calculating the amount of any
payment in respect of the Notes or the date for any such payment, to change the currency
of payments under the Notes or to change the quorum requirements relating to meetings or
the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution (each, a “Reserved Matter”)) may
only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders at
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16.

17.

18.

which two or more persons holding or representing not less than three-quarters or, at any
adjourned meeting, one quarter of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes
form a quorum. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall be
binding on all the Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders, whether present or not.

In addition, a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of all Noteholders who for the time
being are entitled to receive notice of a meeting of Noteholders will take effect as if it were
an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document
or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more
Noteholders.

Modification: The Notes and these Conditions may be amended without the consent of the
Noteholders, the Receiptholders or the Couponholders to correct a manifest error. In
addition, the parties to the Fiscal Agency Agreement may agree to modify any provision
thereof, but the Issuer shall not agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to any such
modification unless it is of a formal, minor or technical nature, it is made to correct a manifest
error or it is, in the opinion of such parties, not materially prejudicial to the interests of the
Noteholders.

Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders, the
Receiptholders or the Couponholders, create and issue further notes having the same terms
and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of
interest) so as to form a single series with the Notes.

Notices

Notices to the Noteholders shall be valid if published in a leading newspaper having general
circulation in Iceland (which is expected to be the Morgunbladid) or, if the rules of the
Icelandic Stock Exchange (ICEX”) so admit, by the sole delivery of the relevant notice to
either ICEX, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg for communication to the Noteholders.
Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of first publication.
Receiptholders and Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the
contents of any notice given to the Noteholders.

Redenomination, Renominalisation and Reconventioning

Notice of redenomination: If Iceland becomes or, announces its intention to become, a
Participating Member State, the Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders and
Couponholders, on giving at least 30 days’ prior notice to the Noteholders and the Paying
Agents, designate a date (the “Redenomination Date”), being an Interest Payment Date
under the Notes falling on or after the date on which Iceland becomes a Participating
Member State.

Redenomination: Notwithstanding the other provisions of these Conditions, with effect from
the Redenomination Date:

(i)  the Notes shall be deemed to be redenominated into Euro in the denomination of Euro
0.01 with a principal amount for each Note equal to the principal amount of that Note
in ISK, converted into Euro at the rate for conversion of such currency into Euro
established by the Council of the European Union pursuant to the Treaty (including
compliance with rules relating to rounding in accordance with European Community
regulations); provided, however, that, if the Issuer determines, with the agreement of
the Fiscal Agent, that market practice in respect of the redenomination into Euro 0.01
of internationally offered securities is different from that specified above, such
provisions shall be deemed to be amended so as to comply with such market practice
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19.

and the Issuer shall promptly notify the Noteholders and Couponholders, each listing
authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have
then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and the Paying Agents of such
deemed amendments;

(i) if Notes have been issued in definitive form:

(A) all unmatured Coupons denominated in ISK (whether or not attached to the
Notes) will become void with effect from the date (the “Euro Exchange Date”)
on which the lIssuer gives notice (the “Euro Exchange Notice”) to the
Noteholders that replacement Notes and Coupons denominated in Euro are
available for exchange (provided that such Notes and Coupons are available)
and no payments will be made in respect thereof;

(B) the payment obligations contained in all Notes denominated in ISK will become
void on the Euro Exchange Date but all other obligations of the Issuer
thereunder (including the obligation to exchange such Notes in accordance with
this Condition 18) shall remain in full force and effect; and

(iii)  new Notes and Coupons denominated in Euro will be issued in exchange for Notes
and Coupons denominated in ISK in such manner as the Fiscal Agent may specify and
as shall be notified to the Noteholders in the Euro Exchange Notice; and

(iv) all payments in respect of the Notes (other than, unless the Redenomination Date is
on or after such date as ISK ceases to be a sub-division of the Euro, payments of
interest in respect of periods commencing before the Redenomination Date) will be
made solely in by Euro cheque drawn on, or by credit or transfer to a Euro account (or
other account to which Euro may be credited or transferred) maintained by the payee
with, a bank in a country in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System.

Interest: Following redenomination of the Notes pursuant to this Condition 18, where Notes
have been issued in definitive form, the amount of interest due in respect of the Notes will
be calculated by reference to the aggregate principal amount of the Notes presented (or, as
the case may be, in respect of which Coupons are presented) for payment by the relevant
holder.

Interpretation: In this Condition:

“Participating Member State” means a member state of the European Union which adopts
the Euro as its lawful currency in accordance with the Treaty; and

“Treaty” means the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

Governing Law and Jurisdiction

The Notes, the Coupons and the Receipts are governed by, and shall be construed in
accordance with Icelandic law.

The Issuer irrevocably agrees that any dispute arising out of the Settlement Agency
Agreement and/or the Notes, Coupons and Receipts shall be subject to the exclusive
jurisdiction of the District Court of Reykjavik (Héradsdémur Reykjavikur).

Legal action taken under this Condition may be proceeded with in accordance with the Act
on Civil Procedure No. 91/1991 (L6g um mederd einkamala), Chapter 17.
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SUMMARY PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NEW NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

Exchange

The New Notes will initially be issued in the form of a temporary global note in bearer form,
(the “Temporary Global Note”), to be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg, for credit on 7 July 2004 to the respective accounts of the
Dealer Managers at Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or such other accounts as any
of the Dealer Managers may direct. On or after the later of (i) 40 days after 7 July 2004 and
(i) the expiry of the period that ends 40 days after completion of the distribution of the New
Notes as certified by the Dealer Managers to the Issuer and the Settlement Agent, the
Settlement Agent shall procure the exchange of interests in the Temporary Global Note for
interests of an equal nominal amount (to the extent that interest and principal has not been
paid to the holder of the Temporary Global Note on the date of exchange) in the related
permanent global note (the “Global Note”) in bearer form. Such exchange shall be made
upon certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership or certification to the effect that the holder
is a U.S. person who purchased in a transaction that did not require registration under the
Securities Act and to the effect that such holder is not a United States person, or is a United
States person that purchased by or through certain United States financial institutions or is
a financial institution purchasing for resale during the restricted period to persons other than
United States persons or persons within the United States or its possessions. A beneficial
owner must provide such certification before any payments with respect to the Notes can be
collected.

The Global Note is exchangeable in whole but not, except as provided in the next paragraph,
in part (free of charge to the holder) for the Definitive Notes described below (i) if the Global
Note is held on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other
than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently
to cease business or does in fact do so, (ii) any of the circumstances described in Condition
12 (Events of Defaulf) occurs or (iii) if the Issuer would suffer a material disadvantage in
respect of the Notes as a result of a change in the laws or regulations (taxation or otherwise)
of any jurisdiction referred to in Condition 10 (Taxation) or by reason of any change in the
laws of the United States the Issuer is or will be required to make any withholding or
deduction in respect of the Notes which would not be suffered were the Notes in definitive
form and a certificate to such effect signed by the Issuer is delivered to the Settlement Agent
for display to Noteholders.

Whenever the Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure
the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated
and with Coupons attached, in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount
of the Global Note to the bearer of the Global Note against the surrender of the Global Note
at the Specified Office of the Settlement Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such
exchange.

If (a) Definitive Notes have not been delivered by 4.00 p.m. (Reykjavik time) on the thirtieth
day after the bearer has duly requested exchange of the Global Note for Definitive Notes or
(b) the Global Note (or any part of it) has become due and payable in accordance with the
Conditions or the date for final redemption of the Notes has occurred and, in either case,
payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not
been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of the Global Note on the due date
for payment, then the Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will
become void at 4.00 p.m. (Reykjavik time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or
at 4.00 p.m. (Reykjavik time) on such due date (in the case of (b) above) and the bearer of
the Global Note will have no further rights thereunder. Persons shown in the records of
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as being entitled to an interest in the Global Note will
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acquire directly against the Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if,
immediately before the Global Note became void, they had been the holders of Definitive
Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were
shown as holding in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

In addition, the Temporary Global Note and the Global Note will contain provisions which
modify the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as they apply to the Temporary Global Note
and the Global Note.

The exchange referred to in this paragraph will, however, be made outside the United States
and its territories and possessions and only to the extent that certification has been received
on or after the date which is 40 days after the Closing Date that the beneficial owners of the
relevant Notes are not United States persons (as defined in the United States Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the United States Treasury
regulations issued thereunder), subject to certain exceptions. A beneficial owner must
provide such certification before any payments with respect to the Notes can be collected.

Payments

All payments in respect of the Temporary Global Note and the Global Note will be made
against presentation and (in the case of payment of principal in full with all interest accrued
thereon) surrender of the Temporary Global Note or (as the case may be) the Global Note
at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent and will be effective to satisfy and discharge the
corresponding liabilities of the Issuer in respect of the Notes. No payment will be made on
the Temporary Global Note unless exchange for an interest in the Global Note is improperly
withheld or refused.

Notices

Notwithstanding Condition 15 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by the Global
Note (or by the Global Note and/or the Temporary Global Note) and the Permanent Global
Note is (or the Permanent Global Note and/or the Temporary Global Note are) deposited with
a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, notices to Noteholders
may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg; provided, however, that, so long as the Notes are listed on ICEX
and its rules so require, notices will also be published in a leading newspaper having general
circulation in Iceland (which is expected to be the Morgunbladid).

Meetings

The holder of the Global Note will be treated as being two persons for the purposes of any
quorum requirements of, or the right to demand a poll at, a meeting of Noteholders.

Purchase and Cancellation

Cancellation of any Note following its purchase will be effected by reduction in the principal
amount of the Global Note.

Default

The Global Note provides that the holder may cause the Global Note or a portion of it to
become due and payable in the circumstances described in Condition 12 (Events of Default)
by stating in the notice to the Issuer the principal amount of Notes which is being declared
due and payable. If principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due and payable, the
holder of the Global Note may elect that the Global Note becomes void as to a specified
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portion and that the persons entitled to such portion as accountholders with a clearing
system acquire direct enforcement rights against the Issuer.

7. Legend

Each Note and any Coupon will bear a legend substantially to the effect that: “Any United States
person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax
laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue
Code.” The sections referred to in this legend provide that United States persons (as defined in the
Code), with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss, and will not be entitled to
capital gains treatment for any gain, on any sale, disposition or payment of principal of the Notes
for United States federal income tax purposes.
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STATE GUARANTEE

The New Notes benefit from a guarantee of collection (einféld abyrgd) of the Icelandic State
Treasury. The guarantee is irrevocable and covers all existing and future obligations of HFF
including its obligations to make payments of principal and interest under the New Notes. The
guarantee derives from a recognised principle of Icelandic law that the State Treasury guarantees
the obligations of all State agencies unless the guarantee is unequivocally limited to the assets of
the agency concerned. The nature of the guarantee is such that in the event of default by HFF, a
holder of New Notes is required to exhaust all remedies against HFF before being entitled to make
a claim against the Icelandic State. As a State agency, HFF cannot be subject to bankruptcy
proceedings, as provided by Section 5(3) of Act No. 21/1991 on bankruptcy proceedings. Evidence
of HFF’s inability to make payments under the New Notes could be sought by entering into
attachment proceedings following a judgment. An attachment showing HFF to hold insufficient
assets for satisfaction of the debt would qualify as proof of HFF’s inability to pay, and would thus
give rise to a direct claim against the Icelandic State under the guarantee.
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DESCRIPTION OF HFF

Ibudalanasjodur — the Housing Financing Fund

Overview

ibudalanasjédur — the Housing Financing Fund (“HFF”), Identity No. 661198-3629, was
established on 1 January 1999 and has its registered office at Borgartun 21, 150 Reykjavik,
Iceland.

HFF was established by the Act on Housing Affairs (Ldg um husnaedismal) no. 44/1998 (the “Act”
or the “Housing Act”). The Act currently provides for the administration and organisation of
housing affairs in Iceland and sets out a framework of individual entitlement to State-sponsored
lending to fund purchases of residential property, responsibility for which is delegated by the State
to HFF. The Act currently provides that HFF will carry out these functions through the granting of
direct loans financed by the issuance of bonds in the domestic financial markets (the “Housing
Authority Bond System”) and through the operation of a “bond swap system” of lending to
homebuyers in the form of bonds and the simultaneous issue against these of bonds in the
domestic financial markets (the “Housing Bond System”), in each case under the overall
supervision of the Minister of Social Affairs. All bonds issued by HFF under the Housing Bond
System and the Housing Authority Bond System are listed on the Iceland Stock Exchange (“ICEX”)
under Icelandic law. Such bonds represent over 50 per cent. of the current market capitalisation of
securities listed on ICEX.

HFF is managed by a board of five directors, each of whom is appointed by the Minister of Social
Affairs. See “Management and Employees — Board of Directors”. The authority of the directors is
strictly limited to the fulfilling the functions assigned to HFF by the Act. HFF does not engage in
any commercial activity outside its core function as supplier of housing loans and in particular does
not accept deposits from the public. The Act provides that HFF must maintain its capital base and
earn a return on its lending activities. Further, HFF must always have sufficient liquid funds to fulfil
its obligations and its lending policy is expected to achieve the Government’s housing policy goals
in a cost-effective way. HFF is expected to make a profit, but such profit is required to be retained
and used to sustain HFF’s lending operations and cover losses on loans rather than being paid out
in the form of a dividend. HFF is authorised to take a margin on interest rates to cover operational
cost and expected losses on loans. The Minister of Social Affairs decides this margin (currently
0.35 per cent.) upon submission of a proposal by the Board of Directors of HFF. HFF is currently
regulated by the Icelandic Financial Supervisory Authority (Fjarmalaeftirlitid) (“FME”). See
“Regulation — The Financial Supervisory Authority’.

As at 31 December 2003 HFF’s total asset value was ISK 459,831,582,000, its loan portfolio was
ISK 444,829,150,000 and its capital adequacy ratio was around 5.0 per cent.. For the year ended
31 December 2003 HFF’s net income was ISK 1,678,217,000 and its pre-provisioning operating
profit was ISK 2,615,101,000.

History

On its establishment in 1999, HFF assumed all the assets and obligations of its predecessor, the
State Housing Board. The State Housing Board was established in 1957 to operate two housing
funds established in Iceland, the State Building Fund, which was established in 1955 and was
responsible for providing loans to fund private housing, and the Workers’ Building Fund, which was
established in 1929 and was responsible for the funding of social housing for lower income
families.
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The State Building Fund

The State Housing Board provided mortgage loans to individual homebuyers through the State
Building Fund until 1989. From 1986, Government financial support of private home ownership
was linked to pension funds, with the latter providing capital through the purchase of Government
bonds or direct loans to the State Building Fund. The principal and interest income from these
bonds and loans was on-lent by the Government through the State Housing Board to homebuyers
in the form of loans at below-market rates. Although fulfilling the Government’s policy of increasing
private home ownership, the substantial increase in demand for these loans stretched the financial
resources of the pension funds beyond their limits. The Housing Bond system, established in 1989,
was designed as a means of providing financing for housing loans at market rates, with social
assistance to homebuyers previously provided through below-market rates being channelled
instead through a system of tax rebates. The Government’s aim was to maintain a policy of
encouraging domestic home ownership by State finance of property purchases whilst diversifying
the sources of the system’s financing, enabling credit institutions and other investors to invest in
bonds. This increase in the investor base enabled entitlement to housing loans to be made
universal rather than tied to membership of pension funds. The universal availability of loans could
be justified in a social context on the grounds that the real financing took place on the market at
market rates. Since 1990, all general housing loans to individuals have been made through the
Housing Bond System.

The Workers’ Building Fund

The Workers’ Building Fund built social housing and provided loans to fund social housing projects.
These traditionally included lending at subsidised interest rates with restrictions on resale of the
properties so financed. The activities of the Workers’ Building Fund were funded through the State
Treasury and with loans from pension funds. In 1999, the social (Workers’ Building Fund) and
market (State Building Fund) systems were merged, bringing an end to long waiting lists for social
housing and removing the distinction between social and private housing. From 2002, restrictions
on the resale of social housing were lifted.

Strategy

HFF’s main objective is to offer its loans on the most favourable terms possible within its means in
order to facilitate affordable renting or ownership of housing in compliance with the relevant
authorising legislation.

The strategic position of HFF is underpinned by its competitive advantages including:
(i) its ability to borrow at rates similar to that of the Government,
(i)  its very efficient operations illustrated by its low cost ratio, and

(iii)  its not-for-profit status that eliminates the need to make dividend payments thereby reducing
the net margin on its lending activities.

To ensure the low rates, HFF’s financing strategy is to continue to issue a limited number of large,
State guaranteed inflation-linked bond issues in ISK which, in the case of the New Notes, can be
settled in one or more international settlement systems.

HFF also expects to lend increasingly to companies which finance property purchases through
loans from HFF and which subsequently offer the property to individuals on the rental market. Until
now the rental market in Iceland has not been strong, however this is expected to change in the
future. Government policy is currently not only to encourage individual home ownership but also
to increase the availability of rental housing.
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Competitive Environment

HFF is the dominant provider in the Icelandic residential mortgage market which has a total value
of almost ISK 550 billion. The other participants in the sector are the pension funds, commercial
banks and savings banks.

HFF has historically been the largest provider of residential mortgages with a 78.89 per cent.
market share as at 31 September 2003. HFF’s market share has remained relatively constant over
the last four years. The second largest provider of residential mortgages are the pension funds.
Their market share has been increasing during recent years from 13.24 per cent. in 1999 to 16.34
per cent. of the total market as of September 2003. The pension funds only lend to their members
according to their respective regulations and lending rules. The Icelandic commercial and savings
banks together are the third largest participant in the market. The banking sector’s share of the
residential mortgage market share has decreased in recent years from nearly 8 per cent. in 1999
to 4.76 per cent. as at September 2003.

The table below sets out the share of the domestic mortgages for the years 1999 to 2003.

2003
1999 2000 2001 2002 (Sept)

(ISK million except percentages)
Commercial and savings banks ...... 26,870 30,474 28,494 27,069 25,869
7.99% 7.96% 6.33% 5.53% 4.76%
Pension Funds.........ccccoeviiieiinnennne 44,500 55,900 71,400 83,400 88,667
13.24% 14.59% 15.86% 16.73% 16.34%
Housing Financing Fund .................. 264,825 296,648 350,204 388,090 428,079
78.78% 77.45% 77.80% 77.84% 78.89%
Total . 336,195 383,022 450,098 498,559 542,615

Source: Central Bank of Iceland.

Selected Financial Information for HFF

The following table shows the profit and loss account for HFF for the years 2001, 2002 and 2003,
and the balance sheet for HFF as at 31 December 2001, 2002 and 20083.

Profit and Loss Account

2001 2002 2003
(ISK millions)

Net Interest INCOME ......eeeeiieieeeeeeeeeeee e 1,003.6 1,844.8 2,519.5
Non-Interest INCOME ........eeeiiiiei it (4.2) 926.8 880.1
of which: foreign exchange gain/loss ...........cccveeeeiiiiiiiiieennnns (612.7) 300.1 741
l o) 7= 1 [ TeTo] 1 L= 9994 2,771.6 3,399.5
Loan LoSS ProvisSion ...........cceuiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee e (651.9) (747.9) (936.9)
Pre-Tax Profit ... (373.3) 1,262.7 1,678.2
[T B g Voo 4 = T (373.3) 1,262.7 1,678.2

According to the Profit and Loss Account the net profit of HFF amounted to ISK 1,678 million for
the year 2003. Net interest income amounted to ISK 2,519 million for the year 2003 compared to
ISK 1,845 million for the year 2002. Other operation revenue amounted to ISK 880 million for the
year 2003 compared to 927 million for the previous year. The change in the other operational
revenue is explained by the change in currency exchange rate development between years and
an increase in income from service charges.
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Balance sheet

2001 2002 2003
(ISK millions)

Assets
B o) ez L N[ o Y= o < 355,217.2 392,368.2 444,829.2
Total Earning ASSetS ... ...eiiiiiiieiee e 357,706.4 394,784.6 450,195.9
L0 2= I ANCTT=] £ 362,262.8 401,722.0 459,831.6
Liabilities
Total FUNAING ..ooeeieeeee e 353,419.3 391,617.7 448,125.6
EQUILY eeeeieiee et 8,684.1 9,946.8 11,625.0

Total Net Loans amounted to ISK 444,829 million at the end of the year 2003 and had increased
by ISK 52,461 million during the year. Cash, cash equivalents and market securities increased by
ISK 5,504 million during the year 2003. Borrowings amounted to ISK 448,126 million and
increased by ISK 56,508 million during the year. Equity, according to the Balance Sheet, amounted
to ISK 11,625 million at the end of the year 2003 or 2.5% of HFF’s total assets.

Legal Status and Legislative Framework

HFF is an independent legal entity but is a part of the central Government and as such included in
the annual State Budget. It is classified in the State Budget as a “C-type Institution”, a classification
which is also given to finance bodies such as the Agricultural Productivity Fund (Framleidnisjodur
landbdnadarins), the Student Loan Fund (Lanasjédur islenskra namsmanna), the New Business
Venture Fund (Nyskdépunarsjodur atvinnulifsins) and the Institute of Regional Development
(Byggdastofnun).

Obligations of HFF have the benefit of a guarantee of collection from the State Treasury of the
Republic of Iceland. However, in order to obtain a remedy against the State Treasury, a claimant
must have first exhausted all other legal remedies available to it against HFF. See “State
Guarantee”.

According to Article 4 of the Act, the aim of HFF is to manage and implement housing policy in line
with the provisions of the Act. In addition, HFF acts as an advisor on housing issues to the Minister
of Social Affairs and other officials charged with responsibility for housing affairs. Article 1 sets out
the purpose of the Act itself, namely to ensure that the Icelandic population can enjoy security and
equal rights to housing and that funds are made available to enable people to acquire or rent
housing on affordable terms.

The principal tasks of HFF are defined by Article 9 of the Act, as amended, as:
(i)  To provide loans to individuals in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(i)  To provide loans to municipalities, companies and associations to construct or purchase
housing for rent.

(iii)  To supervise the finances, running and other operations of HFF and ensure that HFF
operates in accordance with existing laws and regulations.

(iv) To make a financial plan that shows a breakdown of planned operational costs for HFF in
accordance with the provisions of the State Budget.

(v)  To provide the public with information regarding the role and service of HFF.

(vi) To promote technical innovations and other reform in the construction industry, i.e. by
providing loans or grants, under provisions further decided by the Minister of Social Affairs.
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(vii)  To monitor housing requirements in Iceland and planning by municipalities for such
requirements.

(viii) To carry out such other activities as are delegated by the minister to HFF by regulations
relating to housing affairs.

As HFF is neither a credit institution nor a financial institution as defined in Icelandic law, and does
not accept deposits, it is not subject to domestic or international banking regulations. In particular,
HFF is not required to comply with capital adequacy requirements set out in domestic or EU
legislation such as the Capital Adequacy Directive and Basle recommendations. HFF’s financial
status and its activities of the issue of loans and Housing Bonds are regulated by the Financial
Supervisory Authority and the Central Bank.

HFF is exempted from payment of income tax and property tax, pursuant to Article 4 and Article
71, Section 4 and 5, of the Act on Income and Property Tax no. 90/2003. HFF is also exempted
from payment of State Guarantee Risk Premium, pursuant to Article 7 of the State Guarantee Act
no. 121/1997. Likewise, Housing Bonds and Housing Authority Bonds (and accordingly HFF
bonds) are exempted from Stamp Duty, pursuant to Article 35 of the Act on Stamp Duty no.
36/1978.

Regulatory Changes

On 1 July 2004 a new law “Act Amending the Act No. 44/1998 on Housing Affairs” no. 57/2004 (the
“New Housing Act”) will come into effect. The New Housing Act governs and provides for a new
system of direct loans to individuals based on the Housing Authority Bond System (which will
replace the existing Housing Bond System of bond swaps). The New Housing Act is the primary
legislation giving authority to the Minister of Social Affairs to make secondary legislation in the form
of regulations which will govern the terms and structure of the new system. Three regulations will
be passed as follows:

(i)  Regulation on ILS-mortgages and HFF Bonds — This regulation sets out the principal
parameters of the new lending system such as the form of the new HFF bonds, terms and
conditions of the ILS-mortgages and entitlement to lending.

(i) Regulation on financing and risk management of the Housing Finance Fund — This sets out
the new capital adequacy guidance and rules governing HFF. Under this regulation HFF’s
target will be to achieve a capital adequacy ratio of 5 per cent., with an obligation to report
the ratio four times per year to the Ministry of Social Affairs. If the capital adequacy ratio falls
to below 5 per cent., should conventional methods fail to bring the figure up, the “mark to
market” option in HFF’s loans will be fully or partially exercised.

(i)  Regulation on maximum loan amount and maximum loan to value ratio — This regulation
provides for the maximum permissible loan to value ratio of housing loans made by HFF of
70 per cent. (first-time buyers) and 65 per cent. (subsequent purchases). The regulation also
lays down the maximum loan amount of ISK 9.7 million (new properties) or ISK 9.2 million
(other properties). The loan to value ratio is expected to be increased to 90% at a later stage,
subject to clearance from the EFTA Surveillance Authority (See “Legal Proceedings”).

Lending Activities

HFF provides loans to individuals, local authorities, companies and non-Governmental
organisations for acquisition of housing. The activities of HFF are divided into the following
categories:

(i) General loans to individuals — HFF provides loans to individuals for buying new or older
housing, for self-building of new housing and for financing extensive renovation of older
housing. It also provides loans to construction contractors for construction and resale of
residential property. Loans in this category may amount to up to 70 per cent. of the purchase
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price of the property if the person concerned is buying his or her first dwelling or 65 per cent.
for any subsequent purchase. The maximum loan is currently set at ISK 9.7 million in the
case of new apartments or ISK 9.2 million in the case of older apartments.

(i)  Supplementary loans to individuals for social reasons — HFF provides supplementary loans
of up to 20-25 per cent. of the purchase price of the property on a means tested basis to
individuals with low income and limited assets. However, the aggregate of the general loan
and supplementary loan may not exceed 90 per cent. of the purchase price of a property.
HFF also lends to disabled homebuyers who require modification to their housing due to
disabilities. All supplementary loans must be approved by the relevant municipal housing
committee as well as by HFF.

(i) Loans to non-individuals — HFF provides direct loans to local authorities, designated
property companies and non-Governmental organisations for the acquisition of housing for
rent. These loans can either be for housing for rent on the general market or for rent to lower-
income tenants. In the latter case interest rates are lower and a cap on rents is imposed and
monitored by HFF.

Finance from HFF is available to single individuals and married or cohabiting couples. Construction
contractors can also use the systems to raise part of the finance for new buildings by taking out a
loan which is secured by a bank guarantee and a mortgage on the apartment or house. Such loans
to construction contractors are subject to a number of criteria.

The current Housing Bond System is not a traditional mortgage loan system, but a bond swap
system. Homebuyers provide a mortgage bond, which is secured against the property to be
bought. HFF then buys this bond from the homebuyer and pays for it by issuing a housing bond to
the seller which can be freely traded in the securities market. The purpose of this arrangement is
to give the homebuyer access to liquid funds on the most economical terms available on the
market, instead of the much higher rates of interest and discounting rates that apply to ordinary
borrowing by private individuals. The disadvantage of this system has been its complexity and the
fact that homebuyers do not know the exact interest rate applicable to their mortgage until after the
housing bonds have been sold on the market, as the bonds may trade below or above par.

Bonds issued under the Housing Bond System are indexed through the Consumer Price Index,
and carry a fixed interest rate of 4.75 per cent. Currently, the maturity of such bonds is 25 or 40
years. All bonds are “bullet bonds” with a single payment of principal due at the maturity date.
However, there is a quarterly redemption draw of a specific number of bonds issued under the
Housing Bond System. Any bonds drawn in this manner are redeemed by HFF in full.

Under the New Housing Act (see “Legal Status and Legislative Framework — Regulatory
Changes’) the Housing Bond System will be replaced by 1 July 2004, from which time all loans will
be in the form of direct cash loans (see “Issuance Procedure — Housing Authority Bond Systen”).
HFF expects that its lending activities will be funded through sale of the New Notes in the
international capital markets.

The following table sets out the geographical breakdown of HFF’s loan portfolio for the years 2001
to 2003.
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2003 2002 2001

(ISK millions except percentages)

REYKJAVIK ..o 184,871 167,227 152,459
41.56% 42.62% 42.92%
Reykjavik suburban ..........ccocviiiii 115,166 106,528 95,980
25.89% 27.15% 27.02%
COUNTIYSIAR e 144,792 118,613 106,778
32.55% 30.23% 30.06%
TOMAD e 444,829 392,368 355,217

Source: HFF

The tables below show the breakdown of HFF’s Housing Bond and Housing Authority Bond loan
portfolio by size of loan for the years 2001 to 2003.

2003 2002 2001

(ISK millions except percentages)
Housing bond loans (Housing Bond System)

ISK BM-OM ..o 157,071 125,753 104,826
52.52% 48.79% 46.14%

ISK 2M-5M ..o 114,257 106,051 98,684
38.20% 41.15% 43.44%

ISK 500,000-2M ...ttt 27,032 25,285 23,086
9.04% 9.81% 10.16%

Below ISK 500,000 ........ccoimieieeiieeeiee e 718 651 583

0.24% 0.25% 0.26%

Source: HFF

2003 2002 2001

(ISK millions except percentages)

Direct loans (Housing Authority Bond System)

[ISK BM-OM e 65,770 58,974 55,527
45.13% 43.81% 43.37%
[SK 2M-BIM o 36,187 33,224 31,082
24.83% 24.68% 24.28%
ISK 500,000-2IM ...cviiiiiiiieiiiiee e 39,022 37,623 36,574
26.77% 27.95% 28.57%
Below ISK 500,000 .........cetiiiiiiieiiiiee i 4,771 4,807 4,855

3.27% 3.57% 3.79%

Source: HFF.
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The table below sets out the breakdown of HFF’s loans by industry sector as at 30 September
2003 and 30 April 2004.

Loan to Value ratio

The table below sets out the loan to value ratio of HFF as at 31 December 2002 and 2003:

Loan to value

2002 2003
LESS thaN 506 . .cevniiiei it e e e e 74.86% 72.66%
YOl 5101 8.34% 8.35%
ST 0 T 6.65% 7.08%
I 10K ST 4.90% 511%
B0 — 900 ettt — et ———— 2.74% 3.12%
00 m1 000 et e —————— 1.46% 2.06%
Greater than 1000, uu ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eaaas 1.05% 1.62%
TOMAl LTV ratio ...cooeiieeiiee e 36.34% 38.62%

Source: HFF

Credit Approval Process

The current procedure for an individual to obtain a general loan from HFF to fund a property
purchase is as follows:

o Credit Profiling. The individual approaches any commercial or retail bank in lceland.
Application forms are submitted and a credit profile is conducted by the bank. The banks
have a contract with HFF to undertake credit profiling in compliance with rules specified by
HFF. The credit profiling is based on the information provided by the individual, tax records
and shared information kept by Icelandic banks on individuals’ credit histories and total
current indebtedness.

° Borrowing Limit Set. Based on the results of the credit profiling, an individual applicant is
assigned a borrowing limit by the bank.

o Offer Made. The individual is then able to make an offer on a property based on his or her
borrowing limit and HFF’s rules that the amount of the bond or loan may not exceed 65 per
cent. or 70 per cent. of the value of the property.

o Acceptance of Offer. If the seller accepts the offer made, the papers relating to the buyer,
the offer, the property and certain additional matters relating thereto such as insurance are
sent to HFF.

o Valuation Check. HFF checks the purchase price in comparison to the Fire Insurance
Valuation issued by the State Real Estate Valuation Agency. Loans cannot exceed 90% of
the Fire Insurance Value.

o Loan Papers Produced. If the valuation falls within the prescribed limits, the borrower’s
application is granted and loan papers are printed by HFF.

o Registration of Loan. The loan is registered at the District Magistrates’ office.

o HFF’s Exchange of Loan. HFF purchases the loan at 99 per cent. of its face value as at the
date when the loan was made. The remaining 1 per cent. is a loan fee charged by HFF (see
“Funding’).
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The procedure for an individual to obtain a supplementary loan from HFF for social reasons is
similar to the above, although the grant of such a loan is dependent upon an acceptance by the
municipality in which the applicant resides and requires the applicant to be within certain income
and asset limits. These loans can amount to 20-25% of the purchase price, up to a maximum 90%
loan to value limit.

Credit Monitoring

Loan repayments are collected through the same national network of banks which arrange the loan
application. Iceland has an integrated banking computer network (the “RB System”) (of which
HFF, via a local bank, is a member) through which customers make loan repayments. The RB
System sends out statements to borrowers on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis ten days before
payment is due detailing the payment due. Following receipt of the payment from the customer,
the receiving bank will pass the payments on to HFF. HFF monitors payments for loan defaults on
a monthly basis. This is carried out on HFF’s own computer system using data obtained from the
RB System.

Following the due date for payment of a loan a borrower is given a fourteen-day grace period
during which no interest or penalties accrue. If payment is not made during this grace period, a
letter is sent by HFF to the borrower informing them that their loan is in default and setting out the
interest and penalties accruing.

If full payment of an outstanding amount together with interest and penalties is not received within
four months of the due date for payment, HFF enforces a lien against the mortgaged property.
Thereafter, an accelerated court procedure is available to HFF through which the court will grant
HFF authority to sell the mortgaged property.

Sales of properties subject to this legal procedure take place at auction, through the District
Magistrate. The general public and lawyers representing the creditors can bid for properties. HFF
lawyers will bid for a property up to the amount owed. If HFF’s bid is successful it will seek to re-
sell the house on the open market. HFF currently has approximately 100 apartments awaiting sale
on the open market, the average selling time being 1-2 months. Under Icelandic law, if the amount
received from the proceeds of the sale of a property is not sufficient to cover the interest and
principal on the defaulted loan, the borrower remains liable for the shortfall. HFF will seek to
recover any such shortfalls for a period of five years before writing-off the sum. Bankruptcy
procedures are not usually entered into.

A centralised system for recording loan defaults exist in Iceland. This system will prevent a
borrower who has defaulted under a loan from obtaining credit for a period of five years.

Should a borrower experience financial difficulties during the lifetime of a loan a procedure exists
which allows repayments to be put on hold for a period of up to three years, defaults changed into
new loans and/or the maturity of the loans moved back, up to 15 years. In order to qualify for this
deferral of repayment, strict criteria must be met. Interest and any penalties outstanding on a
deferred loan continue to accrue and are index-linked. In addition, if at any time following the
commencement of proceedings to auction a property securing a defaulted loan, the borrower may
stop the proceedings by reaching an agreement with HFF for the repayment of the outstanding
loan, interest and penalties.

Income and Funding

The principal means of income for HFF are a one-off fee charged to the borrower of each loan and
an operating margin.

The one-off fee, intended to cover HFF’s operating costs is currently 1 per cent. for the majority of
the loans and 0.5 per cent. for the rest and has remained at this level throughout HFF’s lifetime
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and prior to that since 1957. The level of this fee is now governed by Regulation no. 3/1999 on
HFF’s fee schedule (Reglugerd um gjaldskra Iblidalanasjods).

Housing Bonds make up the bulk of HFF’s funding base, with 71% of the funding in 2003. Housing
Authority Bonds make up an increasing 21% and other loans the remaining 8%. Other loans relate
to borrowing from Pension funds and the Treasury relating to social loans inherited from the old
State Housing Agency and not replaced by bonds following the Housing Bond system in 1989.
These loans are expected to by fully paid within the next 10 years.

Housing Bonds are issued and delivered in exchange for a mortgage issued by the builder or the
owner of the housing. Housing Bonds are indexed through the Consumer Price Index, and carry a
fixed interest of 4.75%. Currently, the loan period of the Housing Bonds is 25 or 40 years, involving
so-called bullet bonds with a single payment of outstanding amount and interest at the end of the
loan period. However, during the loan period, there is a quarterly draw of a specific number of
Housing Bonds for redemption. Any bonds drawn in this manner have thus matured and will then
be paid in full.

Housing Authority Bonds are indexed through the Consumer Price Index, and carry a fixed interest
of 2.7%. The loan period of the Housing Authority Bonds is currently 24 or 42 years, and they are
to be repaid through annuity payments.

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
Housing Bonds .......ccccceeiiiiiiiieenne 62.5% 63.4% 65.5% 68.9% 70.9%
Housing Authority Bonds .................. 12.1% 16.1% 19.1% 19.4% 20.9%
Other Loans.......ccocceeeviiieeeinieeeien, 25.4% 20.5% 15.5% 11.7% 8.2%

Source: HFF

Day-to-day funding issues are the responsibility of the Treasury Department within HFF, with the
Funding Committee taking decisions on matters such as setting interest rates and the issuance of
new bonds to finance HFF’s lending activities. Decisions are based on a number of factors
including the level of new loans granted, the current level of prepayments and lending forecasts.
The Funding Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and at a minimum consists of the
CEOQ, the Treasurer and the Risk Manager. The Funding Committee meets on a regular basis, at
least monthly.

Risk Management
Overview

HFF’s Board of Directors adopted a new comprehensive Funding and Risk Policy (“FRP”) on 10
June 2004. The FRP sets out rules and guidelines for the management of funding and treasury
operations. Lending operations and corresponding risks are not regulated by the policy. The Board
of Directors formally approves the FRP and the Risk Management and Funding Committee is
responsible for its implementation. The policy contains both administrative regulations to minimise
operational risk and reporting guidelines to recognise early indicators of potential financial risks.

The FRP sets out a division of responsibilities between the front, middle and back offices and for
the management and overseeing of the various departments. The front office is responsible for the
execution and booking of transactions. An independent controlling function is carried out by the
middle office, which monitors market and operational risks and reports to the Risk Manager and
the Treasurer. The middle office does not execute or administer transactions. The back office
performs the administrative function of securities operations, including confirmation and
settlement.
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Reporting and Monitoring

The FRP sets out a framework for reporting and monitoring. Reports are compiled by the Risk
Manager on a monthly basis. The risk report (containing an overview of HFF’s current portfolio and
key risk management measures), cash flow forecast and a report of results are sent to the CEO
and the Board of Directors. The risk report is also sent to the Minister of Social Affairs and the FME.

Asset and Liability Management

HFF actively monitors and manages asset/liability matches. Mismatches are monitored, measured
and hedged as deemed necessary. HFF’s Funding and Risk Management Group are responsible
for the asset and liability management activities of HFF but subject to policies set by, and
monitoring by the Risk management and Funding Committee.

The changes that will take place in July 2004 involving the restructuring of the Housing Bond
System will expose HFF to new risks due to a mismatch in optionality between assets and
liabilities. Homeowners will retain the option to repay at par whereas HFF, unlike under the
Housing Bond System, will not have the option to call the New Notes. This new risk will be offset
by hedging arrangements to be established and monitored by the Risk Manager. The new system
will require more active monitoring of and considerably tighter controls on asset and liability
management, one of the primary motivations for the adoption of the new FRP.

Interest Rate Risk Management

Interest fluctuations affect the market value of interest-bearing assets and liabilities. For HFF, the
risk stems from timing and amount mismatch in cash flows from interest-bearing assets and
liabilities. The aim of HFF’s interest rate risk management is to protect HFF from changes in market
value of interest bearing assets and liabilities caused by market interest rate fluctuations by
matching cash flows from assets and liabilities. As HFF’s cash flow levels and timings are subject
to a level of uncertainty caused by borrowers’ prepayment options under the Housing Bond System
(the exercise of which prepayment options themselves will be closely linked to the prevailing
interest rate), interest rate risk is closely linked to prepayment risk and asset and liability
management. The FRP sets out thresholds for mismatches between assets and liabilities.

Prepayment Risk

As set out above, prepayment risk — the risk that levels of actual future prepayments will deviate
from forecasts (the likelihood of which is linked to interest rate fluctuations) — is taken into account
when calculating interest rate risk levels. HFF measures actual levels of prepayments and
forecasts future levels on a monthly basis. Interest rate and funding risk measures are adjusted in
accordance with the results of these calculations.

Liquidity Risk Management

HFF has access to reserves and credit lines with a number of banks in order to manage liquidity
risk. HFF’s liquidity policy stipulates that cash or cash equivalents should cover six months’
payments of interest payments on all outstanding debt. A long-term cashflow plan is established
along with HFF’s annual business plan and budget. A short-term cash flow plan is drawn-up on a
daily basis which produces a cashflow plan for the next twenty days.

Counterparty Risk

Surplus liquidity (in the form of cash and cash equivalents, short term investments and credit
commitments) liquidity is kept to a minimum. Such surplus liquidity is managed by the Treasury
Department. The permitted level of investment by counterparty is set out below. No investments of
more than three months are allowed in normal circumstances. This period may be extended in
limited circumstances with the approval of the Funding Committee.
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Counterparty

Category Counterparty Borrowing Limit
(ISK millions)
A Government of Iceland No limit
Investment Grade Banks with 5,000

along-term credit rating of
BBB or equivalent

C Counterparties in OECD states 500
with a long-term credit rating of
A+ (Standard & Poor’s) or
A1 (Moody’s)

D Smaller Icelandic Banks 300

Refinancing Risk

All refinancing risk (the risk that HFF will not obtain sufficient borrowings from creditors when a
capital need arises) is covered by having cash or cash equivalents to cover 3 months’ net lending,
based on HFF lending forecasts.

Currency Risk

HFF is exposed to currency risk in connection with any financing denominated in or linked to a
foreign currency. Currently, the only non-ISK linked or denominated financing is a bond issue of
ISK 1.4 billion which, although denominated in ISK, is indexed to EUR. This was inherited by HFF
the State Housing Board in 1999 and will mature in the first quarter of 2007. This bond issue had
a negative impact on HFF’s results in 2001 of ISK 623 million. Foreign exchange positions are
partly hedged using currency derivatives. HFF does not lend in any currency other than ISK.

Inflation Risk

Index-linking of financial obligations has been established practice in the Icelandic financial
markets since 1980. To protect the lender from inflation, loan rate are calculated on a real yield
basis with interest rate and loan balance adjusted for changes in the Consumer Price Index
(“CPI"). Due to possible mismatching of index-linked assets and liabilities, HFF can be exposed to
inflation risk.

Regulation
The Financial Supervisory Authority

The HFF is subject to the supervisory powers of the FME. Its predecessors, the Bank Inspectorate
of the Central Bank of Iceland and the Insurance Supervisory Authority, were merged to form the
FME at the beginning of 1999.

The FME is an independent state authority with its own Board of Directors (the “Board”), which is
appointed for a term of four years. The Board appoints a General Director, who is in charge of the
day-to-day activities and operation of the Authority. The FME reports to the Minister of Commerce.

The FME’s role is to ensure that the activities of parties subject to supervision are in accordance
with laws and regulations and that they are consistent with sound and proper business practices.
Parties which are subject to supervision include commercial banks, savings banks, credit
undertakings (investment banks), deposit departments of co-operative societies, securities
companies, securities brokerages, management companies of UCITS (as defined below), stock
exchanges, central securities depositories, pension funds, insurance companies and insurance
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brokers licensed to operate in Iceland. Several other financial institutions, which operate under
certain special legislation, are also subject to supervision by the FME.

The activities of the FME are primarily governed by Act No. 87/1998, as amended, on the Official
Supervision of Financial Operations, which covers the institution and its administrative position,
operations, confidentiality, activities to be supervised are listed and more. Certain other provisions
concerning the supervision and authority of the FME that are contained in various acts, regulations
and rules on financial market activities are irrelevant to HFF.

The FME’s Supervisory Powers

The FME fulfills its supervisory role by ensuring that the activities of parties such as HFF, which
are subject to supervision, are in compliance with current laws, regulations, rules and by-laws
applicable to their operations and in all other respects consistent with sound and proper business
practices. The FME also works in all areas of the financial market on the basis of international
principles concerning effective supervision. These basic principles are implemented by the
International Monetary Fund for the purpose of assessing the financial stability of its member
states.

The supervision is largely conducted through regular collection of information on the operations
and financial position of parties subject to supervision (off-site), various specific surveillance
operations (on-site) and written enquiries on specific aspects. In addition, the FME responds to
enquiries and requests from parties subject to supervision and their clients and gives
recommendations regarding, for example, operating licenses and mergers. The FME publishes
reports that are compiled from the annual accounts of financial institutions and other data on their
activities. The FME also participates in the development of legislation and regulations for the
financial market.

Supervision by the FME is mainly implemented in three ways:

(1)  Firstly, through regular gathering of various information concerning the operations and
finances of parties subject to supervision. This information gives an overview of the situation
of and developments in specific areas of the financial market, as well as indicating the
performance of individual parties. As a consequence of this, HFF is obliged to deliver
quarterly overview reports to the FME in addition to monthly risk reports.

(2) Secondly, through a range of specific supervisory measures. Special on-site investigations
or inspections are conducted in the case of individual parties subject to supervision.

(3) Thirdly, through written enquires to parties subject to supervision on certain areas of their
operations. According to the FME, it must take the initiative in its supervisory capacity as it
needs to have a clear overview of the situation in different areas of the parties’ activities in
order to tailor its supervisory procedures accordingly. The FME also deals with various
communications and inquiries from parties subject to supervision regarding their operating
licences and the interpretation of laws and regulations pertaining to their operations.
Customers of financial firms also make inquiries to the FME regarding their business
transactions.

The FME can impose daily fines if any party subject to supervision does not provide the requested
information or take corrective action within a suitable time frame. Moreover, the FME may impose
administrative penalties on a party subject to supervision if such a party does not comply with its
decisions.

HFF and its relationship with the FME

Article 27 of the Housing Act stipulates that the FME shall monitor the operations of HFF’s Housing
Bonds Department to ensure that the issuance of Housing Bonds and the finances of the
Department are in accordance with the provisions of the Housing Act and regulations set under it.
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Monitoring shall be undertaken in compliance with the provisions of the Act on the Official
Supervision of Financial Operations. HFF must provide the FME with all the information that it
deems necessary. Article 27 further stipulates that if the FME deems it necessary to evaluate the
financial status of the Housing Bonds Department, it has the right to collect information and
commission on-site investigations of other departments in HFF. In addition to monitoring the
Housing Bonds Department, the FME shall monitor housing bond transactions in the secondary
market under the Act on Securities Transactions no. 33/2003 and the Act on Undertakings for
Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (“UCITS”) and Investment Funds no. 30/2003.

The FME’s supervision of HFF has been very limited as Article 27 of the Housing Act is not precise
as to the scope of the FME’s powers. The fact that a “Housing Bonds Department”, so named,
does not exist as such also results in an unclear supervisory role for the FME on HFF’s matters.
The supervision fee that HFF is currently obliged to pay for the FME’s supervisory role, in
accordance with Article 5 of the Act on the Payment of Costs for Public Supervision of Financial
Activities no. 99/1999, is also demonstrative of the FME’s level of supervision, as it amounts to
0.0004% of total assets, but never less than ISK 400,000, which is considered to be a low amount
compared to that payable for other activities subject to FME’s supervision. However, research on
HFF’s internal surveillance and risk management was carried out by the FME in 2003 and some
comments were made to HFF’'s management after the research. Furthermore, HFF has sent
quarterly reports to FME on bad debts and defaults, and the FME has monitored all market
information concerning and originating from HFF and its annual accounts.

Pursuant to the New Housing Act, the control exercised by the FME will expand to cover all
activities of HFF, in particular as regards issues of marketable debt instruments, rather than being
limited to the Housing Bond Department as it has previously been. As of 1 July 2004, the
relationship between HFF and FME will therefore be more active and the monitoring obligations of
the FME will mirror its obligations with respect to the banking sector. This should be reflected in
monthly reports from HFF on certain subjects, such as risk management and financial status. This
amendment is expected to lead to an increase in the fee payable by HFF for the FME’s supervision
as the Act on the Payment for Costs of Public Supervision of Financial Activities is updated
annually.

Legal proceedings

HFF is party to a number of legal proceedings in the everyday course of its business. However,
management does not consider such proceedings material or consider that should such
proceedings result in judgements against HFF, the sums involved in such proceedings would
individually or in the aggregate have a material effect on HFF or its business.

On 20 April 2004, the Bankers’ and Securities Dealers’ Association of Iceland filed a complaint with
the EFTA Surveillance Authority (“ESA”) regarding HFF’s credit market activity. The complaint was
based on the following findings from a University of Reykjavik report:

(i) HFF is competing with other creditors in providing mortgage loans, making it susceptible to
EEA-competition rules, even though it is fully owned by the State.

(i)  HFPF’s position is incompatible with the main objectives of the EEA Agreement, not in line
with the competition rules of the Agreement and hinders international trade (since the
Icelandic housing market is not a desirable option for foreign banks).

(i) HFPF’s special rights, as granted by the State, constitute hindrances for other financial
institutions to grant housing loans and thus contradict Iceland’s obligations under the EEA
Agreement.
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The Government of Iceland and HFF has provided detailed information to ESA to support the
existing operating conditions of HFF. The principal arguments are:

(i) HFF is charged with a public service obligation in providing housing loans to all applicants,
without regard to geographic location on universal terms for all applicants.

(i)  The EEA Agreement provides Member States, including Iceland, with the option to entrust
public service tasks to private or public undertakings. The benefits enjoyed by HFF are very
limited and are within the limits of what is necessary in order to carry out its public service
tasks.

The ESA has full autonomy in evaluating the complaint. ESA is in this case performing a similar
role to the European Commission when processing complaints regarding State Aid within the EU.
The ESA s not obliged to take any action as a result of this complaint. Proceedings, if commenced,
can take several years.

The Government of Iceland and HFF are confident that the final evaluation will be in HFF’s favour.
ESA has monitored the implementation of EEA law in Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein, since
1994. The ESA has extensively considered public assistance to private housing acquisition in
Norway in 1996-2000. The Government of Iceland intervened in these deliberations and informed
the ESA of the principal features of the Icelandic system, which have not been altered since. The
ESA did not at this juncture take action against the Icelandic system as it would have been possible
for it to do.

Should the ESA find that the operating conditions of HFF are in breach of EEA State Aid Rules, it
would present these findings to the State rather than to HFF. It would be the responsibility of the
State to adapt HFF’s operating conditions to the outcome of the findings. As the State carries
unlimited responsibility for all liabilities of HFF, HFF would not be subject to fines or penalties as a
result of any ruling.

The Government of Iceland did in November 2003 notify to the ESA its intention to raise the
maximum loan to value ratio of HFF loans to 90% of the purchase price. This notification is still
subject to review by the ESA, but a response is expected in coming months.
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Management and Employees
Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of HFF is made up of five Directors each appointed by the Minister of Social
Affairs. The tenure of office is four years and there is no restriction on reappointment. The current
Directors, who began their second term on 1 January 2003 are:

Name Position Principal Outside Interests

Mr. Gunnar S Bjérnsson  President Consultant and former Director of the Maestros
Id. No. 040932-3059 and Building Contractors Union

Ofanleiti 19,

103 Reykjavik

Mr. Hakon Hakonarson  Vice President Director of the North Regional Metal Workers
Id. No. 060245-4799 Union

Munkathverarstraeti 22,

600 Akureyri

Mr. Birkir Jon Jénsson Director Member of Althingi, the Icelandic Parliament

Id. No. 240779-5289
Joétnaborgum 12,
112 Reykjavik

Ms. Kristin Astgeirsdéttir ~Director Former member of Althingi, advisor to the
Id. No. 030551-4519 UNIFEM

Meistaravollum 31,

107 Reykjavik

Mr. Kristjan Palsson Director Consultant, former member of Althingi, and
Id. No. 011244-4759 former mayor of several municipalities
Kjarrmoéar 3,

260 Reykjanesbeer
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Senior Management

HFF is managed on a day-to-day basis by a CEO assisted by five departmental managers.

Name

Mr. Gudmundur Bjarnason
Id. No. 091044-7819
Kirkjusandi 5,

105 Reykjavik

Mr. Hallur Magnusson
Id. No. 080462-4849
Raudagerdi 58,

108 Reykjavik

Mr. Jéhann G Jéhannsson
Id. No. 310164-3569
Brautarland 3,

108 Reykjavik

Ms. Asta H Bragadottir
Id. No. 220463-5409
Laekjarfit 4,

210 Gardabeer

Mr. Sigurdur Geirsson
Id. No. 100155-4359
Reykjamelur 4,

270 Mosfellsbaer

Mr. Bjarni Frimann Karlsson

Id. No. 200949-3079
Frostaskjol 35,
107 Reykjavik

Employees

HFF currently employ 60 staff, of which 56 are full-time and 4 part-time. The workforce has grown
at a low and steady rate in recent years. HFF has a very high rate of staff retention. All employees
are union members and benefit from collective bargaining agreements entered into between the
unions and HFF. HFF believes that the relationship with its employees and the unions is very good.

Position

CEO

Manager of Development, Investor and

Public Relations

Manager of Risk Management

Manager of Operations

Manager of Treasury

Manager of Lending

CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS OF HFF

The following table, extracted without material adjustment from the accounts reviewed by HFF’s

auditors, sets out the capitalisation and indebtedness of HFF as at 31 December 2003.
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as at
31 December

2003
(ISK millions)
Equity
(07 1 o] - | PR 11,625
Borrowings
[STSTUT=T0 [ =10 o[ =TT 448 125
Total Capitalisation...............oocii i 459,750

There has been no material change in the capitalisation and indebtedness of HFF since
31 December 2003. HFF has no contingent liabilities. Under the Act, HFF is not permitted to
advance unsecured loans. All outstanding loans are secured by a mortgage.
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THE REPUBLIC OF ICELAND
About Iceland

Iceland is located in the North Atlantic between Norway, Scotland, and Greenland. It is the second
largest island in Europe and the third largest in the Atlantic Ocean, with a land area of some
103,000 square kilometres, a coastline of 4,970 kilometres and an exclusive 200 nautical mile
economic zone, extending over 758,000 square kilometres in the surrounding waters. Iceland
enjoys a warmer climate than its northerly location would indicate because a part of the Gulf
Stream flows around the southern and western coasts of the country. With only 2.7 inhabitants per
square kilometre, Iceland is one of the least densely populated countries in Europe. The population
of Iceland was 290,570 at the end of year 2003. The annual rate of population growth was 1.1%
between 1998-2003. Around 62% of the population (181,888) lives in the capital city of Reykjavik
and its surrounding municipalities. The largest town outside the capital area is Akureyri, in the
north, with a population of 16,086.

Political Structure and External Relations

Iceland was settled late in the 9th century. A general legislative and judicial assembly, Althingi, was
established in 930 and a uniform code of laws for the country was adopted at the same time. In
1262, Iceland concluded a treaty establishing a union with the Norwegian monarchy. When the
Danish and Norwegian monarchies were united in 1380, Iceland came under Danish rule, which
lasted for more than five hundred years. Iceland was granted a new constitution in 1874 and
obtained home rule in 1904. With the Act of Union in 1918, Iceland became a sovereign state in a
monarchical union with Denmark. In 1944, Iceland terminated this union with Denmark and
founded a Republic. The present constitution was adopted on 17th June, 1944 when the Republic
was established.

Iceland has a parliamentary system of government. Legislative power is vested in the Parliament
(Althingi), and executive power in a cabinet headed by the Prime Minister. The Government has to
be supported by a majority of Parliament to remain in power. The 63 members of the Parliament
are, as of the general elections on 10th May 2003, elected from six constituencies, on the basis of
proportional representation, for a term of four years. A parliamentary bill becomes a law when it is
passed by the Parliament and signed by the President. The President is the head of state and is
elected for a term of four years by a direct vote of the electorate. Iceland has a tradition of political
stability. Since gaining autonomy from Denmark in 1918, governments have normally been formed
by a coalition of two or more political parties. Currently there is an Independence Party/Progressive
Party coalition government, which enjoys a majority in the Parliament.

Iceland has participated actively in international co-operation. Iceland belongs to a group of Nordic
countries that includes Denmark, Sweden, Norway and Finland — as well as Greenland and the
Faeroe Islands. The Nordic countries have established wide-ranging co-operation in a variety of
fields, including economic affairs and international representation. Iceland is a member of the
Nordic Council and of a number of specialised institutions such as the Nordic Investment Bank.
Iceland became a member of the United Nations in 1946 and is an active participant in most of its
affiliated agencies. Iceland is a founding member of the Bretton Woods institutions that were
established in 1945, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development (World Bank). Iceland is also one of the original members of the
Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). It joined the Council of Europe
in 1950 and has participated in the Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe since it
was initiated in 1975. In 1964 Iceland became a party to the General Agreement on Tariffs and
Trade, the predecessor to the World Trade Organisation (WTO). Iceland joined the European Free
Trade Association (EFTA) in 1970 and entered into a free-trade agreement with the European
Community in 1972. In May 1992, the member countries of EFTA and the European Union signed
an agreement to establish a free-trade zone, the European Economic Area (EEA), which took
effect on 1st January, 1994. Iceland is also a founding member of the North Atlantic Treaty
Organisation (NATO), established in 1949. A defence treaty with the United States was concluded
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in 1951. A NATO military base, staffed by United States military personnel, is operated at Keflavik
in the Southwest of Iceland.

The Icelandic economy

With a GDP of approximately U.S.$8.8 billion in 2003, the size of the economy is relatively small.
However, with GDP per capita of U.S.$36,320 in 2003, evenly distributed across the population,
living standards are among the highest in the world. The economy, based on fisheries and
agriculture at the beginning of the last century, has diversified into manufacturing and service
industries in recent decades. Important primary and secondary industries are based on the use of
renewable natural resources, namely the coastal fishing banks, hydroelectric power and
geothermal power. The foreign trade of Iceland is characterised by a relatively high ratio of trade
to GDP.

Share of GDP by Sector, 2003P %
AGIICUIUIE ..ttt ettt et e e s e e e e e e e e 1.4
Fisheries and fiSh ProCESSING ....eeeiiiuiiiiiiiie e 9.6
Aluminum and ferro-SiliCON ..........ooii i 1.3
Other manufacturing INAUSTIY ... 8.2
Electricity and Water SUPPIY ......eieieeeeee et 3.4
(070) 01§ 18 o1 1o o N SRR 9.5
(O] 1 01101 o= YRR 11.7
Transport, storage, COMMUNMICATION ........ueiiiiiiiei ittt 7.7
OINEE SEIVICES ...ttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et r e e e e eeeeeas 25.5
General GOVEIMMENT ... ..ottt e e e e et e e e et e e e enee e e e eneeeeeannes 21.7
Imputed bank SErviCe Charges .........ueoii i -6.9

P=Provisional
Source: Statistics Iceland

The healthcare system is a crucial part of Iceland’s extensive welfare system, a system that has
been under development for over 100 years. The social security system comprises insurance such
as pension insurance, occupational injury insurance, health and maternity insurance.
Approximately 85 per cent. of total medical billings are paid out of public funds. Life expectancy in
Iceland is among the highest in the world and infant mortality among the lowest. Old age pension
is increasingly provided by fully funded compulsory pension schemes, jointly run by employer and
employee representatives. Most of these pension funds were established around 1970 and their
relative share in total old age and disability pensions is growing rapidly.

Recent economic developments

Average economic growth in the last 10 years has been 3.2%. Following a period of stagnation,
economic growth surged in the late 1990’s, initially spurred by robust exports, followed by a rapid
expansion of gross fixed investment and finally by a surge in private consumption. In 1998-2000
signs of overheating became increasingly visible. Credit growth was excessive, wages rose faster
than productivity, inflation rose sharply and the current account deficit widened, peaking at 10% of
GDP in 2000. This undermined the stability of the kréna (ISK), which depreciated sharply from the
spring of 2000 to November 2001. The economy slowed down in 2001, and in 2002 GDP is
estimated to have contracted by 0.6% as domestic demand shrank for the second subsequent
year and export growth slowed down. The economy recovered strongly in 2003 with GDP growing
at a rate of 4%. The latest macroeconomic forecast from the Ministry of Finance projects GDP
growth of 4%% in 2004 and 5% in 2005.
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Billions of ISK 2002 2003P

Private CONSUMPLION ..o 418.8 448.0
Public conSUMPLION ....cooiiiiiiiee e 198.4 212.6
Gross fixed capital formation ...........cccoe i 145.6 174.5
National eXPeNnitUre .........oceeeeiiiii e 762.6 833.6
Exports of goods and SErviCES .......ccoceieiiiiieiiieieeiee e 308.8 284.5
Imports of goods and SEIVICES.........cocuiiiiiiiiiiiee e 292.9 311.6
Gross domestic production (GDP)........cocoueiiiiiiiiiiieieiieee e 778.5 806.4
Gross National INCOME ........ooiiiiiiiee e 718.3 789.1

P= preliminary, volume change in 1990 prices
Source: Statistics Iceland, Central Bank of Iceland and Ministry of Finance

% change from previous year

2001 2002 2003P 2004F 2005F
Private consumption ...........cccceenee. -3.0 -1.1 6.4 5 3%
Public consumption ...........cccoceeenee. 3.1 4.0 3.0 _ 2
Gross fixed capital formation............ -7.0 -14.8 19 15 15%
National expenditure ..........cccccceeenne -3.6 -2.9 8.1 6% 6
Exports of goods and services ........ 7.7 3.7 -0.7 5 4
Imports of goods and services ........ -9.0 -2.3 9.7 10 6%
Gross domestic production (GDP).... 2.8 -0.6 4 4% 5
Gross National Income .................... 2.5 0.8 2.6 4% 4

P= preliminary, F=forecast,
Source: Statistics Iceland, Central Bank of Iceland and Ministry of Finance

During the period 2000-2002 Iceland experienced an exceptionally rapid current account reversal,
as the current account went from a large deficit in 2000 to nearly a balance in 2002. The reversal
in the current account was helped by favourable external conditions, strong marine export prices,
a good fish catch and low international interest rates. A sharp contraction in domestic demand
which caused imports to contract by altogether 11% in 2001 and 2002 was also a major
contributing factor. During the boom years, the external deficit was financed mainly by private
sector borrowing.

Consequently, Iceland’s external debt ratios deteriorated. Net external debt peaked at 102% of
GDP in 2002, but has declined slightly since then. The net international investment position peaked
at 78.5% of GDP in 2002, but also started to decline in 20083.

Key Economic Indicators

2001 2002 2003P 2004F 2005F

GPD Growth (%) ..ccoeveeeveeeeiieeeeeenen. 3.0 -0.5 4.0 4% 5
Inflation (% change)........ccccevueeeenee. 6.7 4.8 2.1 2% 3
Unemployment (% of labour force) .. 1.4 2.5 3.4 3.0 2.75
Wages (% change) .......cccccoeeeeeenns 8.8 7.2 5.6 5.0 5.5
Current Account Balance

(% of GDP) ..t -3.8 -0.4 5.5 -6% -9
Public Sector Balance (% of GDP) .. 0.2 -1.1 -1.4 0.1 1.2
Central Government Balance

(% of GDP) e 0.6 -0.6 -1.1 0.6 1.4
Net external debt (% of GDP) .......... 101.3 101.9 100.8 - —
International investment position

(% of GDP) ..t -75.6 -78.5 -67.4 - -

P= preliminary, F=forecast
Source: Central Bank of Iceland, Statistics Iceland and Ministry of Finance
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A fundamental change in the framework of monetary policy was made in March 2001. The use of
the exchange rate as an intermediate target until then did to some extent restrain the Central
Bank’s manoeuvrability to combat inflation. The flexibility of the exchange rate policy had been
gradually increased at the same time as interest rates were raised, but this proved insufficient. The
Central Bank raised its benchmark interest rates four times in 2000 from 9.0% in January to 11.4%
in November that year and intervened repeatedly in the foreign exchange market as the krona
came under increasing pressure in the summer of 2000. On 27th March, 2001, the Central Bank
announced that the policy of maintaining a stable exchange rate had been abandoned. Instead an
inflation target of 2.5% inflation was adopted, to be reached in 2003. Tolerance limits of +1.5%
were also defined with temporary wider limits during the adjustment period. Inflation rose markedly
in the first three quarters following the change in the monetary regime, temporarily overshooting
the tolerance limits due to a combination of stronger than expected economic performance and
weaker than expected exchange rates. Nevertheless, the Central Bank managed to achieve its
target earlier than expected. By the end of 2002 the inflation target had been reached and inflation
has been at or under the target. Monetary policy remained tight until a phase of rapid monetary
easing was started in the spring of 2002, when the inflation outlook had improved significantly
among gathering signs of an economic slowdown. The banks policy interest rate currently stands
at 5.5%.

Looking ahead economic growth has resumed in 2003 and is expected to remain robust in 2004
and 2005. The construction of a large aluminium smelter on the east coast, the expansion of an
existing smelter and associated hydro-power facilities will provide a big boost to the economy in
the years to come. The planned projects will constitute a considerable challenge to monetary and
fiscal policy.

Public Finances and Foreign Debt

Between the years 1995 and 2000, the general government balance improved from a deficit of 3%
of GDP in 1995 to a surplus of 2.5% of GDP in 1999 and 2000. In 2001 and 2002, the fiscal surplus
shrank as the economy cooled down. The general government finances are estimated to have
been in slight deficit in 2003 but are expected also to be in surplus in 2004 (Source: Ministry of
Finance).

At year-end 2003, the Treasury’s long-term foreign debt amounted to an estimated ISK 150 billion
and the outstanding stock of Euro-commercial paper stood at ISK 14 billion. The short-term debt
at the end of 2003 was considerably lower than in 2002. This is mainly because of privatisation
receipts from the sale of the last two publicly owned commercial banks. Around 30% of the
Treasury’s foreign currency obligations were denominated in U.S. dollars, 8% in Japanese yen,
and 62% were denominated in various European currencies.

Treasury Foreign Debt

Long-term  Short-term Total Debt

Debt Debt Total Debt (Billions ISK)

(% of GDP) (% of GDP) (% of GDP) Net

1995 i 24 4 28 127
1996 23 4 27 132
1997 e 21 3 24 127
1998 18 2 20 117
1999 . 15 4 19 118
20000 i e 16 5 21 139
20071 oo 21 6 27 198
2002 19 4 23 182
2003 .. 18.5 1.7 20 164

Source: Statistics Iceland and Central Bank of Iceland
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Financial markets in Iceland

The Icelandic financial system has been substantially reformed over the last decade. In particular,
as a result of Iceland’s membership of the EEA, legislation and regulations regarding credit
institutions and other financial institutions have been conformed to the various regulations and
directives of the European Union.

The Icelandic banking system consists of three commercial banks (/slandsbanki hf., Landsbanki
Islands hf. and KB Banki hf) and twenty-four savings banks. In addition, the savings banks
mutually run a clearing bank (Sparisjédabanki Islands hf.). The commercial and savings banks’
funding is to a large extent based on retail deposits and domestic bond issues. The commercial
banks are also frequent borrowers in international markets. The total loans and market securities
of the banking system amounted to around ISK 853 billion at the end of 2002.

There are three main players on the Icelandic insurance market. Insurance companies are active
in the financial market, mainly through their investment activities.

Pension funds represent the largest part of the financial system in Iceland. The pension fund
system is fully funded and at the end of 2002 the total assets amounted to 85% of GDP in that
year. The pension funds receive payments from employers and employees and are the single most
important source of long term finance in the country. Membership in a pension fund is obligatory
for wage earners and the self-employed. The pension funds are independent non-governmental
entities. They invest mainly in domestic bond issues, equity capital and foreign securities.

In the beginning of 1999, the Bank Inspectorate of the Central Bank of Iceland and the Insurance
Supervisory Authority were merged into a new separate entity, the Financial Supervisory Authority
(“FME”). FME supervises the whole range of financial institutions, insurance companies and
pension funds in Iceland.

The Central Bank is responsible for implementing monetary policy consistent with the goal of
maintaining price stability. The Central Bank imposes a reserve requirement on all the commercial
banks and savings banks, at present amounting to 1.0 to 3.0% of total disposable funds,
depending on maturity.

ICEX operates under legislation adopted in 1998, which converted ICEX into a limited liability
company. At the same time its monopoly on exchange activities was abolished. Currently there are
19 members of ICEX. Shares of around 44 companies are listed on it, as well as government
securities and corporate bonds. Total number of listed securities is currently 485.

ICEX joined the NOREX Alliance of Nordic exchanges in 2000, which included the adoption of the
SAXESS trading system.
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TAXATION

Icelandic taxation

The comments below are of a general nature based on HFF’s understanding of current law and
practice in Iceland and should not be construed as providing legitimate expectations as to the
system of taxation being as described herein or precluding changes in the applicable rules on
taxation in the future. They relate only to the position of persons who are the absolute beneficial
owners of the New Notes. They may not apply to certain classes of person such as dealers.
Prospective holders of the New Notes who are in any doubt as to their personal tax position or who
may be subject to tax in any other jurisdiction, should consult their professional advisers.

Tax on the exchange

Pursuant to a letter from the Internal Revenue Directorate of 25 June 2004 the exchange of the
Existing Securities for the New Notes will be treated as a sale for tax purposes. The difference in
the purchase price and the selling price will be treated as interest income that is liable to a 10%
withholding tax unless the recipient is expressly exempt from such tax under Icelandic law. Where
the recipient is not a tax resident of Iceland a tax refund for the withholding tax can be claimed or
the holder can register with the Internal Revenue in advance as a non-resident and thus be
exempted from the withholding tax.

Non-lcelandic tax residents

(a) There are no taxes or other governmental charges payable under the laws of Iceland or any
authority of, orin, Iceland in respect of the principal or interest on the New Notes by a holder
who is not a tax resident of Iceland.

(b)  There are no estate or inheritance taxes, succession duties or gift taxes imposed by Iceland
or any authority of, or in, Iceland in respect of the New Notes if, at the time of the death of
the holder or the transfer of the New Notes, such holder or transferor is not a tax resident of
Iceland.

(c) The Issuer is however required by the current laws of Iceland to withhold a 10% tax on any
payment of interest due under the New Notes. Where the recipient is not a tax resident of
Iceland a tax refund for the withholding tax can be claimed or the holder can register with the
Internal Revenue in advance as a non-resident and thus be exempted from the withholding
tax.

Icelandic tax residents

(a) Beneficial owners of the New Notes that are resident in Iceland for tax purposes are subject
to income tax in Iceland on their interest income in accordance with Icelandic tax law. The
tax rate depends on their tax status.

Subject to certain exemptions, applicable to e.g. most banks and pension funds, HFF is
required to withhold a 10% tax on the interest paid to the holders of the New Notes which is
considered a preliminary tax payment but does not necessarily constitute the final tax liability
of the holder.

(b) Pursuant to a letter from the Internal Revenue Directorate of 25 June 2004 the New Notes
will be deductable from the tax base of individuals for net wealth tax purposes in accordance
with the Act on Income Tax and Net Wealth Tax No. 90/2003 (/6g um tekjuskatt og
eignarskatt), Section 77.
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EU Savings Directive

On 3 June 2003 the EU Council of Economic and Finance Ministers adopted a new directive
regarding the taxation of savings income. The directive is scheduled to be applied by Member
States from 1 January 2005, provided that certain non-EU countries adopt similar measures from
the same date. Under the directive each Member State will be required to provide to the tax
authorities of another Member State details of payments of interests or other similar income paid
by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State; however,
Austria, Belgium and Luxembourg may instead apply a withholding system for a transitional period
in relation to such payments, deducting tax at rates rising over time to 35 per cent. The transitional
period is to commence on the date from which the directive is to be applied by Member States and
to terminate at the end of the first fiscal year following agreement by certain non-EU countries to
the exchange of information relating to such payments.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The creation and issue of the New Notes has been authorised pursuant to an Act of the
Icelandic Parliament (Althingi) No. 57/2004, amending the Act on Housing Affairs No.
44/1998, Sections 22 and temporary provision |.

Save as disclosed in this Exchange Offer Memorandum, there are no legal or arbitration
proceedings against or affecting the Issuer, any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective
assets, nor is the Issuer aware of any pending or threatened proceedings, which are or might
be material in the context of the issue of the New Notes.

Save as disclosed in this Exchange Offer Memorandum, there has been no adverse change,
or any development reasonably likely to involve an adverse change, in the condition
(financial or otherwise) or general affairs of HFF since 31 December 2003 that is material in
the context of the issue of the New Notes.

Forward-Looking Statements

The forward-looking statements contained in this document are based on current
expectations. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed. Factors that might
cause forward-looking statements to differ materially from actual results include, among
other things, overall economic and business conditions being different than those currently
anticipated resulting in changes in demand for HFF’s services; competitive factors in the
market in which HFF operates; changes in Government regulations; consequences of acts
of war or terrorism; significant fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currencies from that
currently anticipated; and the impact of tax and other legislation or regulations to HFF.

Rating

HFF was awarded first-time local currency issuer ratings of AA+ and Aaa (and foreign
currency issuer ratings of A+ and Aaa) from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division
of McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc (“S&P”) and Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. (“Moody’s”),
respectively. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy and sell or hold securities and
may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the relevant rating
agency.

For so long as any of the New Notes are outstanding, copies of the Settlement Agency
Agreement may be inspected during normal business hours at the Specified Office of each
Paying Agent:

For so long as any of the New Notes are outstanding, copies of the following documents may
be obtained during normal business hours at the office of the Paying Agent (as set out at the
back of this Exchange Offer Memorandum):

(a) the audited consolidated financial statements of HFF as at and for the years ended 31
December 2001, 2002 and 2003; and

(b) the latest published unaudited interim and audited year-end consolidated financial
statements of HFF.

As of the Exchange Pricing Announcement Date, copies of the final Exchange Offer
Memorandum may be obtained during normal business hours at the office of the Settlement
Agent and at the office of HFF. As of the Settlement Date and for so long as any of the New
Notes are outstanding, copies of the final Exchange Offer Memorandum may be obtained
during normal business hours at the office of the Paying Agent.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

In connection with the application for the New Notes to be listed on ICEX, copies of a legal
notice relating to the issue of the Notes will be deposited prior to listing with ICEX, where
they may be inspected and copies obtained upon request.

The New Notes and any Coupons appertaining thereto will bear a legend to the following
effect: "Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under
the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and
1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code." The sections referred to in such legend provide that
a United States person who holds a Note or Coupon will generally not be allowed to deduct
any loss realised on the sale, exchange or redemption of such Note or Coupon and any gain
(which might otherwise be characterised as capital gain) recognised on such sale, exchange
or redemption will be treated as ordinary income.

It is intended that the New Notes will be accepted for clearance through Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Auditors

The auditors of HFF are KPMG Endurskodun hf., State Authorised Public Accountants, who
have audited the financial statements of HFF for the years ended 31 December 2001, 2002
and 2003, without qualification, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in
Iceland.

The ticker codes for the New Notes in the trading system of ICEX will be HFF150224 for the
New Series 1 Notes, HFF150434 for the New Series 2 Notes and HFF150644 for the New
Series 3 Notes.
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ENDORSEMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE MANAGING DIRECTOR

The year 2003 is the fifth operational year of the Housing Financing Fund. The year is
characterized by a considerable increase in loans from the previous years. Processed applications
increased for housing bonds loans increased by 18.2% from the previous year and their total
number exceeded 12.3 thousand. Total issue of housing bonds at their calculated amount
amounted to a total of ISK 48.4 billion compared to approximately ISK 34.9 billion for 2002, an
increase of approximately 38.7%. This increase is considerably higher than the increase in the
number of applications. This is explained by the increase in the price of housing and the increase
of the amount of the average loan. Furthermore there was a considerable increase in the
processing of applications for additional loans. 3,338 loans were processed for an amount of ISK
6.3 billion compared to 2,595 loans for the amount of ISK 4.8 billion in 2002. The increase in the
number of loans was thus 28.6% while the amount increased by 31.3%. Moreover, there was a
considerable increase in the processing of loans for rental housing. The issue of by the Housing
Financing Found of housing bonds and housing financing bonds amounted to total of ISK 66.5
billion at the calculated price of housing bonds and the sales price of housing financing bonds.
Despite this large number of issues the discount on housing bonds decreased and they were sold
at a premium in June. At the end of the year 2003 housing bonds were still sold at a premium. The
reason is i.e. a better supply of information from the Housing Financing Fund and an increased
demand due to the purchase of foreign investors of the Fund’s bonds. Finally it should be
mentioned that default was at a historical low in 2003. Requests for assistance due to payment
difficulties increased from 936 to 1,003 from the previous year and that assistance now provided
by the Fund to its clients, along with payment services offered by banks and the fact that interest
subsidies are now partly used to pay defaults account for the total defaults being as little as it is.

According to the Profit and Loss Account the net profit of the Fund amounted to ISK 1,678 million
for the year. The net interest income amounted to ISK 2,519 million for the year, compared to ISK
1,845 million for the year 2002. Other operation revenue amounted to ISK 880 million for the year
compared to 927 million for the previous year. The change in other operational revenue is
explained by the change in currency exchange rate development between years and an increase
in income from service charges. The exchange gain for this year was ISK 74 million for the Fund
compared to an exchange rate gain of ISK 300 million the year before. The cost of the operation
of the Fund amounted to ISK 784 million and increases by 3% between years.

Loans amounted to ISK 445,280 million at the end of the year and had increased by ISK 52,354
million during the year. Cash, cash equivalents and market securities increased by ISK 5,504
million during the year. Borrowings amounted to ISK 448,126 million and increased by ISK 56,508
million during the year. Equity, according to the Balance Sheet, amounted to ISK 11,625 million at
the end of year, or 2.5% of the Fund's total assets.

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director of the Housing Financing Fund hereby confirm
the Fund's Annual Accounts for the year 2003 by means of their signatures.

Reykjavik, March 25, 2004.

Board of Directors:

Gunnar S. Bjornsson
Kristin Astgeirsdottir
Kristjan Palsson
Birkir Jonsson
Hakon Hakonarson

Managing Director:

Gudmundur Bjarnason
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of the Housing Loan Fund.

We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheet and Consolidated Balance Sheet of the
Housing Loan Fund as of December 31, 2003, and the related Profit and Loss Account and
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended. The auditing is conducted according to an
authorization from the Icelandic National Audit Office. These Annual Accounts are the responsibility
of the Fund’s Management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Annual Accounts
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Annual Accounts are free of material misstatements. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Annual Accounts. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Annual Accounts. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the Annual Accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Housing
Financing Fund as of December 31, 2003, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended, in accordance with the law and generally accepted accounting principles in
Iceland.

Reykjavik, March 25, 2004.

Helgi F. Arnarson
Oskar Sverrisson
KPMG Endurskodun hf.
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 2003

Notes

Financial Income:

Interest from credit institutions ........
Interest on loans ........cocovvveveeeivnnnnnnn.
Interest on bonds ..........ceviiiiinnnnnnn.

Financial Expenses:
Interest on borrowings
Calculated inflation adjustment ........

3,12

Financial income —
Financial expenses ..........ccccceeeeee.
Government contribution to subsidy
interests

Net interest income .........ccocevvvvevnnnnen

Other Operating Income:

Income from service charges ..........

Expenses in respect of commissions
and other service charges

Value adjustments of other financial
Operations .......cccvveeeeeeeeiieieeeeeeeenn,

4,13

Net operating income ..........cccceeeeee.

Other Operating Expenses:

Salaries and salary-related expenses 14
Other administrative expenses ........ 18
Depreciation ...........ccccooiiiiiiiiiiineeen. 24
Other operating expenses .............. 19

Provisions for losses on the loan
[10] g1{0] 1o PRI 23

Net Profit for the Year .................. 29
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2003 2002 2001
204,142 343,125 93,928
31,261,068 22,176,747 45,320,473
278,365 157,252 311,924
31,743,575 22,677,124  45726,325
29,418,620 20,903,510 44,036,634
0 0 695,636
20,418,620 20,903,510 44,732,270
2,324,955 1,773,614 994,055
194,525 71,218 9,511
2,519,480 1,844,832 1,003,566
985,550 797,754 716,127
(179,602)  (170,989)  (107,662)
74,113 300,052 (612,667)
880,061 926,817 (4,202)
3,399,541 2,771,649 999,364
265,210 229,522 221,105
473,602 466,192 466,977
19,949 18,829 16,940
25,679 46,527 15,662
784,440 761,070 720,684
(936,884)  (747,881) (651,940)
1,678,217 1,262,698 (373,260)




Assets

Amounts Due From Credit
Institutions:

Deposits with the Central Bank

Amounts due from other credit
institutions .......occoevviviii,

Loans:

Loans to customers
Mortgages foreclosed ............cc..cc....

Market Securities............cccooeeee.

Other Assets:
Fixed assets
Other assets
Accrued income

Total Assets .......ccoooovvevviiiiiiiieeinnn,

December 31, 2003

Liabilities and Equity

Borrowings:
Securities, issue
Other borrowings

Other Liabilities

Equity:
Contributed capital
Retained earnings

Total Liabilities and Equity ............

Not Included in the Balance Sheet:

Obligations

BALANCE SHEET

Notes

20

5-7
21-23

9,24

Notes

28

27

29

30
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2003 2002 2001

0 261,587 654,972

8,862,886 5,954,211 3,388,640
8,862,886 6,215,798 4,043,612
444,829,150 392,368,228 355,217,188
450,865 558,030 351,878
445,280,015 392,926,258 355,569,066
5,366,792 2,416,356 2,489,186
68,883 79,215 90,093
52,674 28,403 12,081
200,332 56,016 58,749
321,889 163,634 160,923
459,831,582 401,722,046 362,262,787
2003 2002 2001
411,401,972 345,683,140 298,740,531
36,723,626 45,934,552 54,678,815
448,125,598 391,617,692 353,419,346
80,954 157,541 159,326
6,886,159 6,703,815 6,572,368
4,738,871 3,242,998 2,111,747
11,625,030 9,946,813 8,684,115
459,831,582 401,722,046 362,262,787




STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 2003

Notes 2003 2002 2001
Cash Flows from Operating
Activities:
Net profit for the year ...................... 29 1,678,217 1,262,698 (373,260)
Difference between net profit and
cash from operations:
Indexation on borrowings and
housing bonds .........ccccvvveenns (296,408) (447,828) (755,078)

Calculated inflation adjustment .. 0 0 695,636

Exchange rate difference ............ (74,113) (300,052) 612,667

Depreciation of fixed assets ........ 24 19,949 18,829 16,940

Provision for losses on the loan

[o10] 1] 1o TSR 23 936,884 747,881 651,940
Changes in assets and liabilities .... (144,316) 2,733 (157,024)
Net cash provided by operating

ACHVItIES .vvveee e, 2,120,213 1,284,261 691,821
Cash Flows from Investment

Activities:

Amounts due from credit institutions,

Changes ..o, (92,901) (122,420) 0
Loans, changes .......ccccccvviiiieeneennne (41,967,681) (37,357,192) (30,904,697)
Market securities, (increase) decrease (2,950,436) 72,830 (1,786,834)
Investment in fixed assets .............. 24 (9,617) (7,952) 0
Other assets, changes .........c.......... (24,271) (16,322) (210,604)
Net cash used in investment activities (45,044,906) (37,431,056) (32,902,135)

Cash Flows from Financing

Activities:
Borrowings, changes ..........cccccee... 45,555,469 38,198,346 24,950,303
Other liabilities, changes ................ (76,589) (1,785) (93,505)
Net cash provided by financing

aCtiVItieS ..vveeeviee e 45,478,880 38,196,561 24,856,798
Increase in Cash and Cash

equivalents ..o 2,554,187 2,049,766 (7,353,516)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the

Beginning of the Year .............. 6,093,378 4,043,612 11,397,128
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the

End of the Year .......cccc..cccoennee... 10 8,647,565 6,093,378 4,043,612
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Summary of Accounting Principles

Basis of Preparation

1. The Annual Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and
the Regulation on the Presentation and Contents of the Annual Accounts of Commercial
Banks, Savings Banks and Other Financial Institutions. It is based on cost accounting and
is prepared according to the same accounting principles as for the previous year. The Annual
Accounts are prepared in Icelandic currency and amounts are presented in thousands of
Icelandic kronur.

Foreign Currency

2. Assets and liabilities in foreign currency are converted to Icelandic currency at the year-end
2003 exchange rate. Operational revenue and expenses in foreign currency are converted
at the exchange rate of the date of transaction.

Interest Income and Expenses

3. Interest income and interest expenses are entered into the Profit and Loss Account as they
accrue. Interest income is calculated on amounts due from other financial institutions, loans
and market securities. Interest expenses are calculated on amounts owed to issuance of
securities and other borrowings.

Loans and the loans which the Fund took over from the State Building Fund, the Laborers’
Building Fund and the Housing Bond division are presented using a present value
depreciation method based on a 4.0% interest rate which was the market interest rate at the
end of the year 1998. The Fund’s new loans normally carry 5.1% interest but other loans
carry 3.5 t0 5.7%. The loans assumed by the Fund carry 4.3% to 5.7% interest.

The Fund has granted loans to rental apartments at 3.5% and 4.5% interest rate. The
Government pays the interest difference between those loans and the loans taken by the
Fund.

Service Income

4. Service income includes income from borrowing charges and collection charges. Service
income is entered into the Fund’s Profit and Loss Account when they are derived.

Loans

5. Loans are capitalised with accrued interest and indexation at year-end. Indexed loans are
entered based on indices effective at the beginning of 2004.

6. A provision for losses on the loan portfolio is made to meet the risk attached to lending
operations. The loss provision is based on estimation and does not represent a final write-
off. In addition to the required contribution, certain risk factors are evaluated to determine the
total contribution for this purpose. First, there are specific provisions to adjust for loans that
have received a poor risk evaluation, and secondly, there is a general provision to meet the
general risk of lending operations. The provision has been deducted from the appropriate
Balance Sheet items.

7. The Fund has redeemed assets on foreclosed mortgages. Foreclosed mortgages are
entered at estimated market value in the Fund’s Annual Accounts.
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10.

11.

Market Securities

The Fund’s market securities are presented as bonds and unit shares of mutual funds.
Market securities are valued at market price at year-end.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are capitalized at cost price less depreciation. Depreciation is
calculated as a fixed annual percentage based on the estimated useful life of the property
and equipment until a scrap value is reached. Estimated useful life is specified as follows:

Real €STAtE ... 25 years
Fixtures and eqUIPMENt ... 5-10 years
[Y=] 1 (o L= PP 10 years

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows consist of demand deposits with
credit institutions.

Derivatives

The Fund’s derivatives transactions are conducted as forward exchange contracts and as
swaps against the Fund’s own interest rate and currency exposure. The derivates aim at
minimizing the Funds exchange and interest rate risk. The contracts are valued according to
estimated market price at year-end. Contract value or nominal value is not entered in the
Fund’s Balance Sheet whereas contract performance is entered in the Profit and Loss
Account and in the Balance Sheet.

Interest Expenses

12. Interest on borrowings is specified as follows:
2003 2002 2001
BoNdS iSSUEA  ...ooooeieeecce e 26,972,631 16,661,568 33,815,868
Other DOrroWINGS  ....veviiiiieee e 2,445,989 4,241,942 10,220,766
Total interest on bOrrowings ........cccvveeviiiiiiie e, 29,418,620 20,903,510 44,036,634
Income from Commissions
13. Income from commissions is specified as follows:
BOrrowing Charges ..o 593,916 415,503 366,411
Collection Charges .......cccoveiiiiiieiiie e 391,634 382,251 349,716
Total cOMmMISSION INCOME ..vvviiieeiiiiiiice e 985,550 797,754 716,127
Personnel
14. Salaries and salary-related expenses are specified as follows:
2003 2002 2001
SAIAMNES ..viiiee et 211,637 184,450 184,385
Salary-related EXPENSES .....coccvveieiiiieeeiiee e 47,269 39,043 30,828
Other employee related EXPENSES ......cccveevvvieeeiciiie e 6,304 6,029 5,892
Total salaries and salary-related expenses .......c.cccccoecvveeenn. 265,210 229,522 221,105
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15. The Fund’s total number of employees is as follows:
Average number of employees during the year
measured as full-time equivalent positions .............. 63 59 60
Positions at the end of the year ..........cccoociiiiii. 63 56 61
16. Salaries paid to the Board of Directors and the Managing Director are specified as follows:
2003
Gudmundur Bjarnason, Managing DireCtor .........ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 12,303
Gunnar S. Bjornsson, Chairman of the Board ..............cccooooiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee, 1,926
Other board MEMDEIS (4) ..ooeeeiiiiieeee e e e e e 3,852
o] = 18,081
Auditors’ Fees
17. Remuneration to the Fund’s auditors is specified as follows:
Audit Of aNNUAI ACCOUNTS  ...coeveiiiiiiiiee e e e e e s e e e e e e eeeaes 5,870
Review of iNterim ACCOUNES  .....ciiiiiie e eeeeae 2,867
(@1 a1 g =T=T oY/ o= TR 1,226
Lo ¢= | PPN 9,963
Other Administrative Expenses
18. Other administrative expenses are specified as follows:
2003 2002 2001
Collection Charges ........coceveiiiiiee it 249,311 235,062 213,860
Computerization of housing bonds ..........cccccevviiciieeiicienenns 18,383 12,992 26,206
HOUSING .ot 60,550 46,213 58,516
Advertisements and promotions ........cccccccviiiiiiiiiiee i, 15,938 19,426 17,145
Operation of IT SYSteMS.....cccovciiieiiiiie e 63,393 95,297 87,643
Other administrative eXpenses ........ccccocvvveviciveeicieeesiieeeens 66,027 57,202 63,607
473,602 466,192 466,977
19. Other operating expenses are specified as follows:
2003 2002 2001
Grants due to technological advances...........cccccooceeinieeenns 13,430 10,120 11,870
Homes’ Advisory OffiCe .......ccviiiiiiiii e 4,482 4171 3,792
Other grants ........ooo i 1,200 1,700 0
Claims in relation to the Holt Real Estate Agency.................. 6,567 30,536 0
L0 LSRR 25,679 46,527 15,662
Amounts Due from Credit Institutions
20. Amounts due from credit institutions mature as follows:
ON demMand ......coovieiiiiiiiiiie e 8,647,565 6,093,378 4,043,612
Up to 3 MONthS ...oveiiiiiiii e 50,370 18,011 0
Over 1 year and UP 10 5 YEArS ....cccvcvevrieiiiiie e 164,951 104,409 0
OVEI B YBAIS ..oiiiiiiiiiie ittt 0 0 0
02 L PP PPPPPNt 8,862,886 6,215,798 4,043,612
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Loans

21. Loans to customers specified by types of loans:

Housing Authority Bonds in the Housing Bond Department ............ 305,461,878 262,712,040 222,057,859
Other Housing Authority BondS .........ccceiieiiiiiiiieieeeec e 134,875,081 125,043,567 126,731,304
Loans due to payment difficulties .........ccccovveeeeiniee e 1,659,290 1,765,295 1,670,759
Loans to Day Care Centers and HOMES .......ccccvvviviveiieeniiecieeeen 1,433,811 1,430,092 1,132,530
Loan due to additions/improvements ...........cccccceeiiieiiiiiiiicsiiecn, 575,868 693,401 790,951
OthEr I08NS .o 823,222 723,833 2,833,785
L] £ | U UUUTTRRN 444,829,150 392,368,228 355,217,188

22. Loan to customers specified by maturity:

On demand 1,999,593 2,045,177 2,068,372

Upto 1vyear ... 10,425,913 27,394,008 24,541,572
Over 1 year and up to 5 years 44,720,195 108,063,091 96,945,541
OVEI B YBAIS ...ttt ettt ettt 387,683,449 254,865,952 231,661,703
TOtAl o 444,829,150 392,368,228 355,217,188

23. Changes in the provision for losses during the year are specified as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Specific General Total Total Total

Provision at the beginning of the year 424,308 1,184,478 1,608,786 1,248,167 1,618,556
Provision for losses over the year...... 353,087 583,797 936,884 747,881 651,940
Actual losses during the year ............ (76,670) 0 (76,670) (387,263) (1,022,329)
Provision at the end of the year ........ 700,725 1,768,275 2,469,000 1,608,785 1,248,167
Provision for losses on the loan

portfolio as percentage of loans .... 0.2% 0.4% 0.6% 0.4% 0.4%

Other assets

24. Property and equipment are specified as follows:

Fixtures and

Vehicle Real estate equipment Total
Total value 1.1.2003 .................. 1,541 6,071 140,565 148,177
Additions during the year 0 0 9,617 9,617
Total value 31.12.2003 .......cccoeoireeieierenene e 1,541 6,071 150,182 157,794
Previously depreciated ............cccooiiiiiiiiiiiciee 257 3,506 65,199 68,962
Depreciation during the year ..........cccccoieiiiiinienens 154 242 19,553 19,949
Total depreciation .........cccccceviiieeeiiiiee e 411 3,748 84,752 88,911
Net book value 31.12.2003 ........cccccevrveneereenienieenes 1,130 2,323 65,430 68,883
Annual depreciation ratios ..........ccccceivviiiiiiiiiennenn. 10% 4% 10-20%

The official assessment value of the real estate and land at year end 2003 amounted to ISK
5.1 million. The fire insurance value of the real estate at the same time amounted to ISK 10.2
million.
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Assets and Liabilities Index-linked or in Foreign Currencies

25. The total amount of indexed assets is ISK 447.436 million, and the total amount of indexed
liabilities is ISK 446.109 million respectively, at year-end.

26. The total amount of assets in foreign currencies in the Annual Accounts is ISK 1,704 million,
and the total amount of liabilities amounted to ISK 3,310 million, respectively, at year-end.
Included in assets and liabilities are forward contracts and swaps, see note 30.

Borrowings

27. Borrowings mature as follows:

2003 2002 2001
UP 0 1 YBAN i 23,146,852 36,608,305 34,960,075
Over 1 year and Up 10 5 YEarS ......cccooieiiiiieiece e 81,698,436 129,913,085 124,776,999
OVEI 5 YBAIS ..ottt 343,280,310 225,096,302 193,682,272
TOMAl e 448,125,598 391,617,692 353,419,346

28. Issued bonds are specified as follows:

HOUSING DONAS ... 317,714,998 269,643,597 231,317,235
Housing Authority bonds ........cooiiiiiii e 93,686,974 76,039,543 67,423,296

411,401,972 345,683,140 298,740,531

Equity
29. Changes in equity are as follows:

Contributed Retained

capital earnings Total
EQUIitYy 1.1.2003 .....ooiiiiiiiee e 6,703,815 3,242,998 9,946,813
Contributed capital revaluated ..........ccccooeeviiriiiiiiciieeee, 182,344 (182,344) -
NEE PrOfit oo 1,678,217 1,678,217
Equity 31.12.2003 ...ociiiiiee e 6,886,159 4,738,871 11,625,030

Obligations

30. Foreign exchange and interest rate swaps are specified as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Foreign exchange and interest rate swaps:
Assets in foreign currencies ......ccccccceeveeeeeeeeeiinnnnn, 1,518,912 2,001,688 2,665,779
Liabilities in foreign currencies ..........cccooceeeiennnnns 1,294,303 1,869,756 2,749,817



ANNEX A

FORM OF ACCEPTANCE NOTICE

Acceptance Notice
pursuant to the
Exchange Offer to the holders of the oustanding Notes (or set out herein) of
the Housing Financing Fund

THE ACCEPTANCE NOTICE PERIOD WILL COMMENCE AT 8.00 A.M. (REKYAVIK TIME) ON
28 JUNE 2004 AND THE EXCHANGE OFFER WILL EXPIRE AT 4.00 P.M. (REYKJAVIK TIME)
ON 30 JUNE 2004, UNLESS THE PERIOD FOR THE OFFER IS EXTENDED
OR EARLIER TERMINATED.

The Settlement Agent for the Offer is:

Arion verdbréfavarsla hf
kt 470502-4520

FOR SUBMISSION OF THIS ACCEPTANCE NOTICE:
Arion verdbréfavarsla hf
attn. : Exchange Offer Group
Armuli 13
108 Reykjavik
By Fax: + 354 528 2909

Information Line:
+ 354 528 2800

If you deliver this Acceptance Notice to an address, or transmit it via facsimile to a number,
other than those set forth above, such delivery or transmission will not constitute valid
delivery.




List below the aggregate principal amount (at maturity) of Notes tendered.

Unique Reference'
(must be completed)

The Unique Reference is a 12 digit reference: XXXYYMMDDXXX. First three digits are the ISD
Account Holders Id with the ISD, for example: ISL for islandsbanki, LAl for Landsbankinn, JVP for
Joklar, etc. The next six digits is the date of the execution of the transfer in ISD, YYMMDD and
the last three is the number of the transfer within the day, for example: 001.

Description of Notes (must be completed, those left blank are not part of the transfer)

ISIN Number of Ticker Code of Nominal Amount of | Transfer number
Tendered Notes Tendered Notes Tendered Notes issued by ISD
1IS0000001063 IBH 21 0115

1IS0000001071 IBH 22 1215

1IS0000004927 IBH 26 0315

1IS0000001097 IBH 37 1215

1IS0000004935 IBH 41 0315

1IS0000001154 IBN 20 0101

1IS0000001162 IBN 38 0101

Delivery details for New Notes:
Euroclear/Clearstream, Luxembourg account no.:

Euroclear/Clearstream, Luxembourg account holder details:
Name:

SWIFT BIC:

Notes:

Unless otherwise indicated, the Settlement Agent will assume that you are tendering the entire
aggregate principal amount (at maturity) represented by the Notes specified above.

The nominal amounts as stated above must directly relate to the Electronic Acceptance Instruction
sent to ISD to transfer such Notes to the account of the Settlement Agent at ISD (901202-3468,
Arion verdbréfavarsla — safnreikningur). If you are submitting multiple Electronic Orders for the
same securities code, please use separate Acceptance Notice forms always quoting the
corresponding Unique Reference.

1 Each Acceptance Notice MUST have the same Unique Reference as the Electronic Acceptance Instruction relating to it.
The Settlement Agent, in its sole discretion, may consider invalid any Acceptance Notice submitted without such Unique
Reference or with a Unique Reference that does not match the Unique Reference in the corresponding Electronic
Acceptance Instruction.




PLEASE SIGN HERE
To Be Completed By All Noteholders

This Acceptance Notice must be signed only by a direct participant of ISD exactly as such
participant’s name appears on the records of ISD as the entity holding the Note(s) for and on behalf
of the Noteholder(s).

By signining this Acceptance Notice, the Noteholder is deemed to have received and read the
Exchange Offer Memorandum relating to the Exchange Offer and to make certain representations,
warranties and undertakings to HFF, the Settlement Agent and the Dealer Managers as set out
under “Procedures relating to the acceptance of the Exchange Offer’ as set out therein. If the
signature appearing below is not the Noteholder’s signature, then the signatory represents that he
or she is legally empowered to represent the holder(s) of the Notes

(Signature(s) of Holder(s) or Authorised Signatory)

Date:

Name(s):

(Please Print)

Capacity:

Address:

Telephone No.:
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